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Financial Summary

MBERE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR FeRaEREtZEKER
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December
BEZ12A31BHLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018
202145 20204 20194F 20184F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR%EFTr AR%®Tx AR%®TRE
Revenue I = 284,440 213,529 121,569 83,463
Gross Profit EF 200,734 156,236 77,190 49,890
Profit for the year F N5 A 45,245 85,197 31,270 14,189
Profit attributable to N RFHEBAEMN
owners of the parent ikl 40,616 85,197 31,270 14,189

*

The data of 2018 and 2019 are extracted from the Company’s *

prospectus dated 30 June 2021 (the “Prospectus”).

2018F R2019F H EMEBEARAAH A

20216 AB0RM R ERR ((BRER]) -

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL REMEBERILE
POSITION
As at 31 December
MW12A8318

2021 2020 2019 2018
20214 2020 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARETIT ARETT AREFTIT
Non-current assets FERBEE 102,572 18,697 12,766 13,462
Current assets mE B E 4,012,989 208,362 101,033 56,486
Current liabilities EUR=RE 113,207 64,078 44,991 30,339
Net current assets mEEEFE 3,899,782 144,284 56,042 26,147
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 30,161 11,567 2,576 4,651
Total equity T R 3,972,193 151,414 66,232 34,958

*

The data of 2018 and 2019 are extracted from the Prospectus.

* 2018 R2019FF BB M B N ETE -
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Chairman’s Statement

ESERWE

Dear shareholders,
NEW JOURNEY

2021 marked a crucial year for Medlive as we witnessed a
series of important events and several significant milestones in
the history of the Company. On 15 July 2021, the Company was
successfully listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, reflecting the long-term endeavor for our future
international development. After its listing, the Company has
been supported by its institutional investors who increased their
shareholding evidencing their belief of our long-term value. In
November 2021, Medlive was included as one of the constituent
stocks of the Hang Seng Composite Index, indicating the
recognition of the capital market for our promising growth
potential.

As a listed company, Medlive has embarked on a new journey
full of new opportunities. As we have adopted a prudent and
sensible approach in the face of different opportunities arising
from the divestment of the healthcare industry since the end of
the previous year, we believe the challenges ahead will pose a
valuable opportunity for the rapid development of Medlive.

Committed to “professionalism, innovation, cooperation and
efficiency”, we have strived to make progress despite the
difficult times. Since its establishment, for over 20 years, Medlive
has focused on building an excellent physician platform on the
Internet and cultivating an ecosystem for the participants of the
healthcare industry. Efforts have also been made to facilitate
the continuous improvement in the availability, accessibility
and affordability of healthcare services in China and the world,
with an emphasis on using technology to support physicians in
making better clinical decisions. We have provided physicians
with high-quality medical knowledge content and a wealth
of professional tool products, which improved their learning
ability, assisted their clinical decision-making, and enhanced
their scientific research efficiency. As of 31 December 2021,
the Medlive platform had approximately 5.50 million registered
users, approximately 3.10 million of whom were licensed
physicians, representing approximately 75% of all licensed
physicians in China as of the same date. As such, Medlive was
able to maintain its leadership in the industry.
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During medical procedures, physicians serve as the core
of treatment decisions. Physicians have to learn the latest
knowledge related to diseases and drugs, and pharmaceutical
companies have to continuously and accurately provide
physicians with drug-related information as well as information
services in relation to diseases and drugs. Unlike face-to-face
marketing, digital marketing is more advantageous due to lower
cost, higher efficiency and more precise user conversion rate
and has become a major future trend. As the largest online
physician platform, Medlive serves as the communication
channel between physicians and pharmaceutical companies.
Leveraging its large number of physician users and their high
level of engagement, Medlive has successfully developed into
the preferred platform for digital marketing of pharmaceutical
companies.

With years of exploration and development, the business model
of the Medlive platform has been well established. Based on our
understanding of the needs of physicians and pharmaceutical
companies as well as the key elements in the business
model, we have integrated the learning of physicians with the
knowledge-based marketing of enterprises under a knowledge
and evidence-based approach. This integration has developed
into a business model that features dual and mutually-beneficial
driving forces. Capitalizing on the technological barriers, we
have enabled an effective integrated model for commercializing
and supporting the decision-making of physicians.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE OF 2021

Medlive generates revenue by offering three categories of
solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions. With a year of hard work, we hereby
proudly present our first annual results after our listing. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, Medlive recorded revenue
of RMB284.4 million, representing an increase of 33.2% as
compared with last year. Non-HKFRS adjusted net profit
was RMB106.9 million, representing an increase of 25.4% as
compared with last year. Despite the lackluster macro-economic
environment, we were able to maintain our rapid growth
momentum. Rather than showing our development performance
through specific financial data, we would like to emphasize our
insightful deployment and achievements behind these data:
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Chairman’s Statement

ESERWE

In respect of precision marketing and corporate solutions,
benefiting from the increase in the number of users as
well as higher level of user engagement, the healthcare
customer base and the number of healthcare products
and services increased steadily. The healthcare reform has
also driven the pharmaceutical companies to seek digital
academic marketing solutions. Medlive has continuously
cooperated with the world’s top research and medical
institutions and large local enterprises, and adopted full life
cycle solutions covering products that are newly launched,
developing or fully developed. These academic marketing
solutions have been improved to align with China’s
market characteristics and fulfill the “precise” academic
requirements of physicians in China.

In respect of medical knowledge solutions, in the second
half of 2021, Medlive speeded up the expansion of the
breadth of the medical knowledge content on its platform
to support clinical decisions and drive user engagement.
On the back of its cancer disease knowledge database,
Medlive expanded its clinical decision support products
to cover other diseases and areas such as cardiovascular,
endocrine, vestibular medicine and neurological diseases.
In addition, we continued to enhance the search function
of our platform to increase the accuracy of the vertical
content. We have launched the “28#8” platform, which
is targeted at medical and pharmaceutical professionals,
providing valuable domestic and overseas medical
knowledge content through Al-enabled search engine, thus
allowing comprehensive, precise and efficient searches by
users.

In respect of intelligent patient management solutions,
Medlive offers comprehensive chronic disease
management services. Currently, Medlive’s Internet
hospital-based chronic disease management focuses on
stroke and diabetes management and will gradually expand
to other chronic diseases.
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In light of the recurring pandemic, travel restrictions and social
distancing measures have been tightened, which resulted
in a huge market demand for the launch of online medical
conferences or clinical education courses on the Internet. In
quick response to the market changes and demand, we have
captured an optimal opportunity by acquiring 60% equity
interest in Beijing Medcon in October 2021. Beijing Medcon is
a well-known software as a service (“SaaS”) solution platform
for academic conferences in the PRC and is a leading medical
conference service provider. This acquisition will create
positive synergy among our physicians, content and customer
resources, enhance the business capability and income of our
medical conference services, and enable us to upgrade our
innovative business.

OPPORTUNITIES AND DEPLOYMENT

According to the Frost & Sullivan Report, China is the second
largest medical healthcare market in the world. Due to factors
such as aging population, improving living standard and higher
health consciousness, the general healthcare industry will
continue to be promising. The proportion of digital healthcare
marketing increased from 0.8% in 2018 to 2.3% in 2022, and
will increase to 11.4% in 2025. With its rapid development,
digital healthcare marketing is expected to amount to RMB111.0
billion in 2025, with a compound annual growth rate of 48.8%,
reflecting its buoyant prospect.

We are also stepping up our deployment to usher in the
full arrival of digital marketing. In line with our development
commitment to “professionalism, innovation, cooperation,
efficiency and corporate social responsibilities”, we will continue
to pursue our mission of “supporting clinical physicians to
benefit patients”. We will also make reasonable use of proceeds
and efficient use of capital, and will strive to implement the dual
strategy of industry integration and independent innovation.
Greater efforts will be made to capture more business
opportunities in the market of digital healthcare marketing so as
to maintain our leading position in the industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

ESERWE

In the future, we will further optimize the healthcare ecosystem
layout with higher competitive barriers. In respect of medical
knowledge solutions, based on the achievements of Medical
Information Science Research Unit of Medlive, we will continue
to explore the value of the integration of medicine and
technology for healthcare, while expanding professional content,
developing more products (tools) to meet the diverse needs
of physicians. Particularly, we will provide tailored knowledge
content and tools for primary physicians in an effort to enhance
the professional level of a large number of primary physicians. In
respect of precision marketing and corporate solutions, we will
capitalize on the unique advantages of the physician resources
on our platform to promote the development of real-world
studies and CRO business lines. These initiatives will allow us to
provide better solutions for medical research at lower cost and
higher efficiency. In respect of intelligent patient management,
we will conduct in-depth research and development of intelligent
management models based on more diseases, enabling the
provision of more effective disease management solutions for
more patients, and the improvement in the quality of life of
patients.

It is the commitment of Medlive to keep abreast of the global
development of medicine in order to support physicians in
making the best clinical decisions and bring more choices and
good news to the industry. We carefully consider the needs of
users and adopt a practical approach in developing products
and services. With our professional and continuous efforts
in maximizing the value for users, we aim to become “the
best assistant of physicians in their clinical decision-making”.
Admittedly, it is not an easy process and will be subject to many
doubts and challenges. Nevertheless, there is no doubt that all
employees of Medlive have the courage to face any challenges
with perseverance and persistence. | have full confidence in the
future growth and prospects of Medlive.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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2021 marked the first year where we emerged in the
international capital market. We owe our outstanding
achievements to the support from different sectors. On behalf
of all the staff of the Company, | would like to extend our
appreciation to all our shareholders, physicians, users and
partners for their encouragement and support. In the coming
year, we will remain committed to our endeavors to bring more
possibilities to the industry and greater long-term returns for all
shareholders.

Tian Liping
Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer
24 March 2022
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Business Overview and Outlook

XERERRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is the leading online professional physician platform
in China. The Group has focused on using technology to
support physicians’ clinical decision making for over 20
years. Its self-developed Medlive (% #8) platform is widely
recognized by physicians in China as the most popular
professional medical platform, which enables the Group to
become the platform of choice in precision digital healthcare
marketing for pharmaceutical and medical device companies in
China. As of 31 December 2021, having taken into account the
users of the Medlive platform, available through the Company’s
website, desktop application and mobile application, and that of
Beijing Medcon Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (1t RE#E {5
B#AAABRAR) (“Beijing Medcon”), a 60% owned subsidiary
of the Company, the Group has approximately 5.5 million
registered users, around 3.1 million of whom were licensed
physicians, representing approximately 75% of all licensed
physicians in China as of the same date.

The Group generates revenue by offering three categories
of solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions.
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The Group derives most of its revenue from precision marketing
solutions, which offer digital healthcare marketing services to
pharmaceutical and medical device companies. The Group also
offers various corporate solutions that enable (i) pharmaceutical
and medical device companies to cost-effectively conduct
market research; and (i) pharmaceutical and medical device
companies, hospitals and other stakeholders of the healthcare
industry to improve the efficiency of clinical trials and medical
research. The Group utilises its unique advantage of having
more than three million registered physician users to set
up an “one-site” digitalized clinical research platform, an
Internet hospital, electronic data capture (“EDC”) solutions
and decentralized clinical trial (“DCT”) solutions capabilities.
In addition, the Group integrates real-world studies (“RWS”)
delivery with digital marketing, and effectively combines
evidence generation though RWS and evidence-based digital
marketing. This effective module has successfully been applied
in our RWS support solutions in areas of oncology, hematology
and nephrology. Hence, the Group is able to provide full service
on its “one-site” platform including project management,
clinical monitoring, data management, biostatistics, protocol
design, medical monitoring, patient recruitment and supporting
system. In 2021, the Group had 106 healthcare customers who
purchased its precision marketing and corporate solutions,
compared to 81 healthcare customers in 2020. In 2021, 242
products of healthcare customers were marketed using the
Group’s precision marketing and corporate solutions, compared
to 191 products of healthcare customers marketed using such
solutions in 2020.

Business Overview and Outlook

EEBERRE

REBARTFD WS REBEESHBE RS
R UBAFRAEEREBEREAA
REBFTEEEHRKRS - ~AEE MR H
ZREROGERRIR (BRENBER
BRARINAEBR AR SN AR ETHS
MR RMHEHREREERHEAR B
EREETENEM2EERARKS
BRESHFRNRE - AELEF AEBBS
EEAAMEMNBEES B[
NIBFEBRARARTFE  BHBEER -
ETFE8EHXE(EDC) B R AREFMETR
Bl KA B(DCT) MR TR -
AN REBEBEE R K ((RWS]) R
NEHFTLEHELES  BRWSHFE R EK
HEARBFENETEHEARNLES - %8
MEREKNERNRERSZ mMES -
EEBREEEFHNRWSYERASTR - B
g AEBAE— BRI FEREBER
BEEE BRAZN ZETE £95%
A RRECBEERN BEHEE
MY FBRFEEANZERS - R20214F -
F1I6REERFEEASEMBELH
N ¥ BRR TR - M2020F B81R B &
B o 20214 » BR42iE R BERFE M
FRAEBMNBELHEHRGERRAAR
Zil o M2020FE A1 BEEBERFPE WS
FRZBRFREH -

BIENEERA R
R -FFR

13



14

Business Overview and Outlook

XERERRE

The Group’s medical knowledge solutions satisfy the needs of
physicians for continuing medical education and clinical decision
support and the needs of other healthcare professionals
for professional medical information. The Group’s medical
knowledge solutions deliver medical knowledge content through
multiple user-friendly channels, including its website, mobile
applications, desktop applications, WeChat mini-programs
and WeChat official accounts. Recognising that high-quality
medical knowledge solutions and information are vital to the
attractiveness of the Group’s platform for users, in the second
half of 2021, the Group speeded up the expansion of the
breadth of the medical knowledge content on its platform to
support clinical decisions and drive user engagement. On the
back of its cancer disease knowledge database, the Group
expanded its clinical decision support products to cover
other diseases and areas such as cardiovascular, endocrine,
vestibular medicine and neurological diseases. These coupled
with the other clinical guides and clinical drug reference
tools offered by the Group provide physicians with a more
comprehensive clinical decision support tool at the point of
care, helping them to give diagnosis, prescription and treatment
in an effective and efficient manner. To complement such
development, the Group has launched the “% 3%~ platform,
which is targeted at medical and pharmaceutical professionals,
providing valuable domestic and overseas medical knowledge
content through Al-enabled search engine, thus allowing
comprehensive, precise and fast searches by users.

Due to the travel restrictions and social distancing measures
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, the manner in which
physicians receive clinical information and education has
changed. More and more physicians are willing to attend
online medical conferences or clinical education courses on
the Internet. The Group has quickly responded to such market
development and in October 2021, the Group acquired 60%
equity interest of Beijing Medcon, a well-known software as a
service (“SaaS8”) solution platform for academic conferences in
the PRC and is one of the leading professional and prominent
technology providers in academic conference management
focusing on medical conference. This acquisition allows the
Group to gain access to the customer base of Beijing Medcon
and medical related contents generated in the course of the
business of Beijing Medcon, enhances the Group’s capability in
providing medical conference services and enables the Group
to capitalize on the emerging opportunities presented by the
growing demand for digital conference management.
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The Group’s intelligent patient management solutions offer
comprehensive chronic disease management services, including
(i) online patient consultation services and prescription services
and patient management services through Internet hospital; and
(i) condition-specific patient education services in collaboration
with non-profit organizations. The Group’s Internet hospital-
based chronic disease management currently focuses on
stroke and diabetes management and will gradually expand to
other chronic diseases in the future. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s chronic disease management services platform
had accumulated approximately 115,000 users and in addition
approximately 35,000 participating physicians.

Although the travel restrictions resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic have brought inconvenience to the sales and
marketing team of the Company in arranging physical meetings
with key customers, the pandemic has presented increased
opportunities for online medical conference and education.
As a result, the pandemic has not caused any significant
negative impact on the Group’s financial performance in 2021.
The Group continued to record robust growth in 2021 from
operating its professional physician platform. The Group’s
revenue increased from approximately RMB213.5 million for year
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB284.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase
of approximately 33.2%. The Group’s gross profit increased
from approximately RMB156.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB200.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase of
approximately 28.5%.

The Company’s shares (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15 July 2021 (the “Listing
Date”) by way of a global offering (the “Global Offering”),
marking a milestone for the Group in improving its capital
strength and corporate governance as well as enhancing its
competitive edge, which laid a solid foundation for the Group’s
future development. The Company became a constituent stock
of the Hang Seng Composite Index with effect from 6 December
2021, reflecting the capital market’s recognition of the Group’s
positive business performance and growth outlook.

Business Overview and Outlook
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Business Overview and Outlook

XERERRE

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2022, the Group will continue its efforts to further solidify its
position as the leading online professional physician platform in
China by pursuing the following strategies:

° Continue to build the Group’s technological platform and
expand its applications. The Group plans to continue
its technological development, including the continuous
development of Al-empowered tools by leveraging its
unigue and proprietary data set. With the launch of the
“B28” platform in the second half of 2021, the Group
will continue to build its knowledge graphs to optimize its
search and recommendations capabilities with semantic
and contextual links. The Group is developing a single
disease clinical decision support system providing
intelligent decision services including diagnosis, intelligent
early warning and treatment recommendations.

° Expand the Group’s customer network and strengthen
relationships with existing customers. The Group aims to
foster customer loyalty by continuing to deliver superior
return on existing customers’ spending for its precision
marketing solutions. The Group has also identified
significant demand for digital promotion from medical
device companies, domestic pharmaceutical companies
and biotechnology companies, particularly those focused
on developing innovative therapeutics and as a result
of the volume-based procurement policy in China. The
Group intends to leverage its deep experience in precision
marketing to capture an increasing proportion of these
potential customers’ digital promotional spending. To
achieve these goals, the Group will continue to invest in
developing and offering more solutions, as well as adding
new features to its existing solutions. These include
devising digital marketing solutions for specialty drugs and
non-prescriptive drugs and also for drug products at their
different life cycle stages of development. The Group will
also strengthen its business development efforts by hiring
additional sales, marketing and account management
personnel.
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Continue to increase physician penetration and
engagement by enhancing the Group’s medical knowledge
solutions and enriching the information and content on
its platform. The Group will leverage its data insights to
improve the accuracy and relevance of its personalized
content recommendation and search results. The Group
also plans to further diversify the sources of content
generation and to extend its reach to the physicians
who work in county areas and community hospitals by
offering them tailored solutions. Furthermore, the Group is
strengthening its strategic collaboration with the Chinese
Society of Clinical Oncology (“CSCO”) and plans to join
efforts with CSCO to provide comprehensive support to
physicians and others in the areas of anti-cancer new
drug clinical research support, continuing education for
physicians, pharmaceutical and medical device company
personnel, patient education, publication support and
media and conference support.

Continue to expand the Group’s service offerings, including
patient care offerings with digital health management
tools and clinical research solutions. The Group is actively
developing a DCT platform as the Group believes that
with the popularization of remote and intelligent clinical
treatment, there is an urgent need for a localized DCT
platform that meets the needs of Chinese physicians and
patients. DCT allows remote clinical monitoring therefore
increasing cost-efficiency. The Group’s platform design
is based on in-depth insights into Chinese doctor-patient
behavior which allows clinical research to continue during
the pandemic and also reduces patients’ burden and
can potentially improve enrollment. Leveraging its large
physician network, the Group intends to expand chronic
disease management service and strengthen its Internet
hospital by supporting more diseases and Parkinson'’s,
breast cancer, fatty liver and blood tumor are among
those diseases that are currently under consideration. In
addition, the Group plans to optimize its intelligent clinical
research solutions, including its EDC and clinical data
management system (“CDMS”) solutions and RWS solution
by continuing to develop Al technology to accurately and
efficiently capture and analyse clinical data.

Explore strategic partnerships, investments and
acquisitions. The Group intends to selectively pursue
suitable strategic investments and acquisitions that can
generate convincing synergies with the Group’s existing
solutions offerings, expand its customer base and/or
enhance its technological capabilities.

Business Overview and Outlook
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

In 2021, the Group generated revenue from three solution
categories, namely (i) precision marketing and corporate
solutions; (i) medical knowledge solutions; and (i) intelligent
patient management solutions. The Group’s revenue increased
by approximately 33.2% from approximately RMB213.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB284.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
primarily due to the revenue increase from its precision
marketing and corporate solutions.

Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions

Revenue from precision marketing solutions is primarily derived
from fees paid by the Group’s healthcare customers for the
Group’s digital detailing, digital marketing consulting and digital
content creation services. Revenue from corporate solutions
is primarily derived from fees paid by the Group’s healthcare
customers for its digital market research, EDC and CDMS
solutions, RWS support solutions, patient recruitment service,
as well as application software development service related to
precision marketing and corporate solutions.

Revenue from precision marketing and corporate solutions
increased by approximately 34.9% from approximately
RMB191.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to approximately RMB258.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, primarily due to (i) an expansion of the Group’s
healthcare customer base from 81 for the year ended 31
December 2020 to 106 for the year ended 31 December 2021;
and (ii) an increase of number of healthcare products marketed
using the Group’s precision marketing and corporate solutions
from 191 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to 242 for the
year ended 31 December 2021, resulting from user growth and
increased user engagement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Medical Knowledge Solutions

Revenue from medical knowledge solutions is primarily
derived from provision of professional medical information
covering continuing medical education and clinical decision
support, including licensing software to physicians, other
registered users, including other healthcare professionals, and
pharmaceutical companies. Revenue from medical knowledge
solutions increased by approximately 34.5% from approximately
RMB9.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB12.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, primarily due to an increase of paying users, as a result
of the expansion of the Group’s user base and the superior user
experience the Group offers.

Intelligent Patient Management Solutions

Revenue from intelligent patient management solutions
historically was primarily derived from fees paid by non-profit
organizations with medical focus and pharmaceutical companies
for provision of patient education services to patients and non-
profit organizations, including content development, application
software development and other related services. The Group
started to generate revenue from commissions on fees paid
by patients for online consultation services and prescription
services on its Internet hospital since the first half of 2021. As
a result, revenue from intelligent patient management solutions
increased by approximately 6.3% from approximately RMB12.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB13.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED

COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales consists of (i) employee benefit
expenses relating to salaries and benefits for employees involved
in operating the Group’s platform and developing content; (ii)
content development cost primarily relating to fees paid to
content contributors and service fees paid to content production
service providers; (iii) technology service fees relating to cloud
content delivery network and telecommunication services as
well as licensing fees; and (iv) other expenses primarily relating
to consulting fees, equipment rental expenses, travel and
transportation expenses. The Group’s cost of sales increased
by approximately 46.1% from approximately RMB57.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB83.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was
primarily due to (i) an increase in employee benefit expenses
driven by the expansion and growth of the Group’s business
and the recognition of share-based compensation; and (i) an
increase in technology service fees driven by the growth of the
Group’s business.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased
by approximately 28.5% to approximately RMB200.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
RMB156.2 million the year ended 31 December 2020. The
Group’s gross profit margin was approximately 70.6% for the
year ended 31 December 2021, which remained relatively stable
compared to that for the year ended 31 December 2020.

OTHER INCOME

Other income and gains primarily consist of (i) bank interest
income; (i) investment income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and (iii) government subsidy. The Group
recorded other income and gains of approximately RMB8.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, compared to
approximately RMB1.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The increase was primarily attributable to (i) an increase
in interest income derived from demand deposits especially
as a result of the proceeds from the Global Offering; and (ii)
recognition of government subsidy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily
consist of (i) expenses for promotion activities to drive user
growth and engagement; (i) employee benefit expenses
relating to salaries and benefits for employees in selling and
distribution functions; and (iii) other expenses primarily relating
to business development expenses. The Group’s selling and
distribution expenses increased by approximately 28.9% from
approximately RMB20.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately RMB25.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, primarily due to (i) an increased level of
promotion activities to drive user growth and engagement; and
(i) an increase in performance-based salary for the Group’s
employees in selling and distribution functions.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consist of (i)
research and development costs primarily relating to salaries
and benefits for employees in research and development
functions; (i) employee benefit expenses relating to salaries
and benefits for employees in management as well as general
and administrative functions; (iii) depreciation of assets,
which includes depreciation of right-of-use assets relating to
the Group’s leases and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, (iv) taxes and surcharges; (v) maintenance expenses
primarily relating to technology and telecommunication service
fees, as well as service fees for outsourced administrative
services, (vi) impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade
receivables; (vii) other expenses primarily relating to rent, travel
and transportation expenses and general office expenses; and
(viii) listing expenses. The Group’s administrative expenses
increased by approximately 212.0% from approximately
RMB32.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to approximately RMB101.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, primarily due to recognition of (i) listing
expenses of approximately RMB28.3 million in connection with
the Company’s listing on the Stock Exchange; (ii) share-based
compensation to key employees in research and development,
management as well as general and administrative functions; (iii)
increase in research and development fees; and (iv) increase in
fees payable to intermediaries such as auditors, legal advisers,
compliance adviser and company secretarial service provider
after the Company’s listing.
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EEENWED

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs consist of finance costs allocated
from lease payments. Finance costs are charged to profit or loss
over the lease periods so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liabilities for each
period. Lease liabilities decrease over the periods of the leases,
resulting in higher finance costs at the beginning of lease
periods. The Group’s finance costs increased by approximately
156.0% from approximately RMBO0.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMBO0.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, as the Group renewed its material
lease at the end of the 2020.

Profit Before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit before tax
decreased by approximately 33.3% from approximately
RMB104.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB69.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expense increased by approximately
25.6% from approximately RMB19.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMB24.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily attributable to
the withholding tax related to the special interim dividend of
RMB92.0 million declared in June 2021 and the increase in
income tax associated with the rise in revenue.

Profit for the Year and Profit Attributable to Owners of the
Parent

As a result of the foregoing in particular, the recognition of listing
expenses and share-based compensation and the withholding
tax related to the special interim dividend declared in 2021,
which have been disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 June 2021 (the “Prospectus”), the Group’s profit for
the year decreased by approximately 46.9% from approximately
RMB85.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB45.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the
parent decreased by approximately 52.3% from approximately
RMB85.2 million to approximately RMB40.6 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Non-HKFRS Measures — Adjusted Net Profit

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements
which are presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), the Company also used
unaudited non-HKFRS adjusted net profit as an additional
financial measure in order to evaluate its financial performance
by eliminating the impact of items that it does not consider
indicative of the performance of its business. The term “adjusted
net profit” is not defined under HKFRS. Other companies in the
industry which the Group operates in may calculate such non-
HKFRS item differently from the Group. The use of adjusted net
profit has material limitations as an analytical tool, as adjusted
net profit does not include all items that impact the Group’s net
profit for the Reporting Year and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of the Group’s results as
reported under HKFRS.

The following table sets out the calculation of adjusted net profit
for the years indicated:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARE T
Profit for the year F A% 7 45,245 85,197

Add: hn

Listing-related expenses FHEBRAX 28,289 —
Share-based compensation R% 17 Sz < % B 14,257 =
One-off withholding tax —RMEFENH 8,139 —
Foreign exchange difference EHEER 10,931 —
Adjusted net profit B Fa 106,861 85,197

The adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2021,
adjusted by excluding the listing-related expenses, share-based
compensation to key employees and one-off withholding tax
related to the special interim dividend declared in June 2021
and foreign exchange difference, was approximately RMB106.9
million, increased by approximately 25.4% as compared to
approximately RMB85.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2020.

B E2021F12HA31B L F & - & EF
wmA (MR ETmEERSY EZREN
IR 17 3% A< 37 B K2 20214E6 A B = & 45 Bl
HARE BB RN B AR)RE
HEEHNBARKI069EB T BHZE
2020F12 AR L FEHNARKSS.2H &
T AN 425.4% °

BIENEERA R
R -FFR

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED

The listing-related expenses and the foreign exchange difference
are related to the Global Offering. Listing-related expenses are
primarily fees paid to underwriters and external advisers. The
proceeds from the Global Offering are primarily denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and the foreign exchange difference mainly
arises from the currency fluctuation of Hong Kong dollars
against RMB in the second half of 2021. Such foreign exchange
difference is non-operational in nature and the amount
does not directly correlate with the underlying performance
of the Company’s business operations. The share-based
compensation relates to the pre-IPO share options to subscribe
for a total of 26,754,000 Shares granted to certain Directors
and key employees and is a non-cash item. The withholding tax
relates to the special dividend of RMB92 million declared before
the Global Offering and paid to parties which were shareholders
of the Company prior to the Global Offering.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group financed its
operations primarily through cash generated from the Group’s
operating activities and the net proceeds received from the
Global Offering. The Group intends to continue to finance its
expansion and business operations using a combination of
cash generated from operating activities and the net proceeds
received from the Global Offering.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy. The Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities, and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to
time. Taking into account the net proceeds received from the
Global Offering and the current cash position of the Group, the
Board considers that the Group has sufficient working capital to
meet its operation needs for at least the next 12 months.

The net proceeds received by the Company from its Global
Offering in July 2021 which are not put into use immediately,
have been placed in short-term deposits with licensed financial
institutions. The Company will consider purchasing wealth
management products only if such investments are safe and can
produce a better return to the Company than bank deposits.
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Cash and cash equivalents

The Group operates its business in the PRC and its transactions
and revenue were primarily denominated in Renminbi. As such,
the Group did not have material exposure to fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates for cash generated from its
operating activities. However, the net proceeds received by the
Company from the Global Offering are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and the Company is exposed to fluctuation of
exchange rate between Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group received net proceeds of approximately HK$4,071.1
million from its Global Offering in July 2021 and an additional net
proceeds of approximately HK$606.0 million from the exercise
of the over-allotment option in connection with the Global
Offering in August 2021. On 18 June 2021, the Group declared a
special interim dividend of RMB92.0 million to the shareholders
on its register of members as of the same date, namely, Tiantian
Co., Limited and M3, Inc. and the special interim dividend
has been paid in 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB3,879.1
million, which primarily consisted of cash at bank, as compared
to approximately RMB147.1 million as of 31 December 2020.
As at 31 December 2021, over 93% of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents are denominated in HK dollars, around 6%
are denominated in RMB and under 1% are denominated in US
dollars.

The Group currently does not have any hedging policy for
foreign currencies in place. However, the Board will remain alert
to any relevant risks and, if necessary, consider to hedge any
material potential foreign exchange risk.

Borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not
have any short-term or long-term bank borrowings and had no
outstanding bank and other borrowings and other indebtedness
apart from lease liabilities for the relevant lease terms amounting
to approximately RMB13.2 million in aggregate.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing borrowings

by total equity, was zero since there was no borrowing as of 31
December 2021.
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Charge on assets

As of 31 December 2021, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

Capital expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB54.9 million,
which mainly comprised capital expenditures recorded for the
acquisition of 60% interests in Beijing Medcon and expenditures
on IT equipment, as compared to approximately RMBO0.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The Group funded its
capital expenditure by using the cash flow generated from its
operations. Future capital expenditure will also be funded by
using the net proceeds received from the Global Offering.

Contingent liabilities and guarantees

As of 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant
unrecorded contingent liabilities, guarantees or any material
litigation against the Group.

Material acquisitions or disposals and future plans for major
investment

On 11 October 2021, the Company, through its subsidiary,
Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., Ltd. (it 7 & ik & & &}
AR AF) (“Yimaihutong”), entered into an equity transfer
agreement to acquire 60% equity interest of Beijing Medcon for
a cash consideration of RMB100,253,400. Beijing Medcon is a
well-known Saa$S solution platform for academic conferences in
the PRC and is one of the leading professional and prominent
technology providers in academic conference management
focusing on medical conference.
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The cash consideration shall be paid by Yimaihutong in four
installments. The consideration will be adjusted downwards
according to the terms of the equity transfer agreement if Beijing
Medcon’s audited net profit for the years ended and ending 31
December 2021, 2022 and 2023 do not reach RMB14,780,000,
RMB17,000,000 and RMB19,540,000, respectively. The audited
net profit of Beijing Medcon for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately RMB19.60 million. Accordingly, no
adjustment to the consideration has been made to date and
Yimaihutong has paid the first installment of RMB60,150,000.
The second installment will be paid later in 2022 and the
third and fourth installments will be paid in 2023 and 2024
after the audited net profits of Beijing Medcon for the years
ending 31 December 2022 and 2023 have been ascertained
and adjustments, if any, have been determined. Yimaihutong
also has the right to require the founders of Beijing Medcon
to repurchase the 60% equity interest in Beijing Medcon held
by Yimaihutong if the actual cumulative audited net profits of
Beijing Medcon for years ended and ending 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023 do not reach 50% of the aggregate guaranteed
profits mentioned above. Further financial information of Beijing
Medcon for the year ended 31 December 2021 will be included
in the annual report of the Company to be despatched to
shareholders of the Company.

The Group will continue to selectively pursue suitable strategic
investments and acquisitions that can generate convincing
synergies with the Group’s existing solutions offerings, expand
its customer base and/or enhance its technological capabilities.
The Group will utilize proceeds from the Global Offering for the
purpose of any such acquisition.
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EMPLOYEES AND STAFF COSTS

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 502 full
time employees, all of whom were located in mainland China.
In particular, 106 employees are responsible for the Group’s
content management, 150 employees for platform operation
and customer service, 144 employees for research and
development, 53 employees for general and administration
and 49 employees for sales and marketing. The total staff cost
incurred by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
was approximately RMB104.4 million compared to approximately
RMB51.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
increase was primarily due to (i) the growth of the Group’s
business; and (ii) the recognition of approximately RMB14.3
million share-based compensation to key employees.

The Group provides orientation and training to new recruits as
well as ongoing in-house training for junior employees, which
the Group believes can enhance the skills and productivity
of its employees. The Group compensates employees with
base salaries and performance-based bonuses. The Company
has also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a post-IPO
share option scheme and a share award scheme to incentivize
employees and senior management and to align their interests
with that of the Company.

Further details of the principal terms of the abovementioned
share incentive schemes are set out in the Prospectus and the
announcement of the Company dated 24 December 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tian Liping (H 3 ¥), aged 55, is the Chairwoman, the
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company.
Ms. Tian is primarily responsible for formulating and implementing
the overall development strategies and business plans of the
Group and overseeing the overall development and operations
of the Group. Ms. Tian founded the Group in June 1996 and
has been a Director of the Company since April 2013. She has
been the executive director and chief executive officer of Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (2 E XK It R)EH AR A A since August
2013 and is currently a director of each of the other subsidiaries
of the Company. Ms. Tian has over 19 years of experience in
the medical information technology industry. Prior to founding
the Group, from 1988 to 2003, Ms. Tian successively worked at
Institute of Software, Chinese Academy of Sciences (FF B £} £z
B HT 5 FT) and as a system engineer at Technocraft Co., Ltd.
Tokyo Japan (tkX&+77./777 ) (“Technocraft Japan”).
While working at Technocraft Japan, Ms. Tian founded the Group
with Mr. Tian Lixin.

Ms. Tian received her bachelor’'s degree with a major in
computer software from Beijing Institute of Technology (1t & 3%
T RE)in the PRC in July 1988 and obtained her EMBA degree
from China Europe International Business School (Bl B B T 7
B2 %) in the PRC in November 2017.

Ms. Tian is the elder sister of Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun.
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Mr. Tian Lixin (H 3 $7), aged 53, is the President, the head of
the Medical Information Science Research Unit and an executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Tian is primarily responsible for
overseeing and managing the operations of the Group. Mr. Tian
founded the Group in June 1996 and has been a Director of
the Company since December 2013. He has been the president
of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (8 E XKItR)RI K BR A )
since August 2013. Mr. Tian has over 25 years of experience in
the medical information technology and software development
industry. Mr. Tian was an independent director of Vanfund Urban
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. (8 5B EZEER D
BBRA7A]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 000638) from December 2016 to May 2019. Prior
to founding the Group with Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian worked at
the Research Institute of Beijing 701 Factory (1t =+ O — & i
7% Ff) as the institute director from 1992 to 1996.

Mr. Tian received his bachelor's degree with a major in
engineering physics from Tsinghua University (/& 2 KX£) in the
PRC in July 1992.

Mr. Tian is a younger brother of Ms. Tian Liping and the elder
brother of Mr. Tian Lijun.

Mr. Tian Lijun (H 3 E), aged 48, is an executive Director of
the Company, a vice president of the Group and a deputy head
of the Medical Information Science Research Unit. Mr. Tian is
primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the research,
development and innovation of the products and technologies
of the Group. Mr. Tian joined the Group in June 1996 and has
been a Director of the Company since December 2013. He
has been the chief technology officer of Kingyee (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd. (£ E XK (I R)BH AR 2AA]) since August 2013. Mr.
Tian has over 19 years of experience in the medical information
technology industry. Mr. Tian previously worked at Technocraft
Japan as a software engineer.

Mr. Tian received his bachelor's degree with a major in
computer science and engineering from Beihang University (1t
TR ZE f K K2 in the PRC in July 1996.

Mr. Tian is the younger brother of Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian
Lixin.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Zhou Xin (A fR), aged 41, is an executive Director of
the Company and a vice president of the Group. Ms. Zhou
is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the
digital marketing operations of the Group and responsible for
multichannel business development of healthcare marketing
and innovation and implementation of solutions. She has been a
Director of the Company since July 2018. She joined the Group
as a secondee from M3, Inc. in January 2016 and has served
as vice president of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & XAk (1t
)R AR AR since joining. Ms. Zhou has over 16 years
of experience in marketing strategy and business management
and over eight years of experience in the medical information
technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou
successively worked at Deloitte Tohmatsu Consulting LLC as a
senior consultant, Ernst & Young Advisory & Consulting Co., Ltd.
and Xrossface Inc. as the manager of the strategy and operation
consulting department from April 2006 to September 2013.
Ms. Zhou joined M3, Inc. in December 2013, where she served
as the head of China business unit at corporate and business
development group of M3, Inc..

Ms. Zhou received her bachelor’s degree in engineering from
Kyoto University in Japan in March 2004 and obtained her
master’'s degree with a major in essential informatics from
University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya (# 2 & =), aged 57, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Tsuchiya is primarily responsible
for providing professional advice and judgment to the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”). He has been a Director
of the Company since December 2013. Mr. Tsuchiya has over
35 years of experience in insurance and financial consulting
and over 15 years of experience in the healthcare technology
industry.
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Mr. Tsuchiya joined M3, Inc. in August 2006 and currently is an
executive director of M3, Inc.. M3, Inc. is a company listed on
the Tokyo Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2413.T). Prior to joining
M3, Inc., Mr. Tsuchiya worked at Asahi Mutual Life Insurance
Company from April 1987 to January 2000, where his last
position was deputy manager of asset liability management
development group. From February 2000 to February 2001, Mr.
Tsuchiya served as a strategy consultant at Deloitte Tohmatsu
Consulting LLC (previously known as ABeam Consulting Ltd.)
in Japan. From September 2001 to August 2006, Mr. Tsuchiya
served as a financial adviser at KPMG FAS Co., Ltd., (previously
known as GMD Corporate Finance) in Japan. Mr. Tsuchiya
was a non-executive director of Medical Net, Inc., a company
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3645.T) from
November 2007 to July 2019.

Mr. Tsuchiya received his bachelor’s degree in commerce from
Waseda University in Japan in March 1987 and obtained his
MBA degree from University of California, Irvine in the United
States in June 1997.

Dr. Li Zhuolin (Z £ 3&), aged 39, is a non-executive Director
of the Company. Dr. Li is primarily responsible for providing
professional advice and judgment to the Board. He has been a
Director of the Company since March 2021. Dr. Li has over 10
years of experience in management advisory.

Dr. Li joined M3, Inc. in January 2018 and currently is a senior
director at solution partner business unit of M3, Inc.. M3, Inc. is
a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
2413.T). Prior to joining M3, Inc., Dr. Li worked at McKinsey &
Company, Inc. from April 2011 to December 2017, where his last
position was engagement manager.

Dr. Li received his bachelor’s degree with a major in engineering
and master’s degree with a major in engineering from the
University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2006 and March 2008,
respectively. Dr. Li further obtained his Ph.D. in engineering
with a major in technology management for innovation from the
University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2011.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Yeh (E %), aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Yeh has been the chief financial officer and the head
of strategic operations at Abbisko Therapeutics Co., Ltd
(EBEMEBEYEERFHRAGF) (“Abbisko Therapeutics”)
since November 2020 and became an executive director of
this company since 5 January 2021. The shares of Abbisko
Therapeutics were listed on the Stock Exchange on 13 October
2021 (Stock Code: 2256). Mr. Yeh was the chief financial
officer of CStone Pharmaceuticals, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2616), from July 2018 to April
2020. Prior to joining CStone Pharmaceuticals, Mr. Yeh was a
managing director and the business unit leader of Asia Pacific
healthcare equity research at Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C.
in Hong Kong from July 2015 and July 2018. Before that, Mr.
Yeh worked at Citigroup Capital Markets Asia Limited from
July 2009 to June 2015 where he last served as the head of
China healthcare research team. In October 1995, he joined
Amgen Inc., a leading global biotechnology company traded
on the NASDAQ (stock code: AMGN), as a research associate
conducting drug discovery research.

Mr. Yeh obtained an MBA from Cornell University in the United
States in May 2002 and a Master of Science in medical
biophysics from the University of Toronto and Ontario Cancer
Institute in Canada in November 1995. Mr. Yeh received a
Bachelor of Science with a major in biochemistry from University
of Manitoba in Canada in May 1993.
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Dr. Ma Jun (5 &), aged 67, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and is responsible for providing
independent advice to the Board.

S A

Dr. Ma has been working at Harbin No.1 Hospital (%5 8& T % —
22 B7T) since July 1971 and has served as the director of institute
of hematology and oncology of Harbin No.1 Hospital since July

1988.

Dr. Ma has been the chairman of the board of supervisors of
the China Society of Clinical Oncology (7 B & /K & &2 &)
("CSCO”) and the chairman of anti-leukemia association of
CSCO since September 2019 and May 2018, respectively. Dr.
Ma was the chairman of anti-lymphoma association of CSCO
from September 2013 to September 2015. From September
2013 to September 2016, Dr. Ma served as the deputy director
of the hematology branch of the Chinese Medical Association
(REEE ) From June 2011 to June 2014, Dr. Ma was the
deputy chairman of hematology branch of the Chinese Medical
Doctor Association (Bl 2l 1% &) (‘CMDA”). From December
2010 to December 2013, Dr. Ma was the deputy chairman of
oncology branch of CMDA. Dr. Ma obtained the researcher
qualification from Heilongjiang Human Resources Bureau (&8
TE ANEEE) (currently known as Heilongjiang Human Resources
and Social Security Bureau (B#ETIE A NERMTSREEE)
in November 1991,

Ms. Wang Shan (£ #t), aged 48, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Ms. Wang has served various roles at Beijing Hitachi Huasun
Information Systems Co., Ltd. (IR B EBEEEZHEBRA
A]) since July 1995 and is currently the director of the finance
division of the management supervision department.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’s degree in applied
mathematics from Beijing Union University (1t Z Bt & AE) in
the PRC in July 1995. She obtained the primary accountant
qualification (¥] 4 & &1 A &%) from Ministry of Finance of the
PRC in May 1999 and the medium level accountant qualification
(P& 5HEI &%) from Beijing Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau in October 2012. Ms. Wang is a PRC Certified
Public Accountant, who has obtained her qualification from
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2001,
and is also a PRC Certified Tax Agent, who has obtained her
qualification from the China Certified Tax Agents Association in
November 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management team comprises the executive Directors
of the Company, biographies of whom are set out above, and
the following members:

Mr. Xin Jiangtao (¥178), aged 45, is a vice president of the
Group. He joined the Group in January 2004 and is responsible
for the research and development and innovation of the Group’s
products and services. Mr. Xin has over 18 years of medical
software development experience. Mr. Xin has served as the
product manager at Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& % Xk (1t
)R AR 2 F]) and Beijing Jinye Tiansheng Technology Co.,
Ltd. (dt =& EXBER B R AR since January 2004 and
June 2007, respectively.

Mr. Xin received his bachelor’s degree with a major in computer
science and engineering from Peking University (1t = K&) in
the PRC in June 2007.

Mr. Yang Liancheng (43 & %), aged 43, is a vice president of
the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in September 2016 and
is responsible for executing overall development strategies and
business plans of the Group and implementing the marketing
strategy of the Group. He has over 17 years of experience in
consulting and over five years of experience in the medical
information technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Yang worked at Accenture (China) Co Ltd. (2R & (FFE) AR A
A1), a subsidiary of Accenture plc, a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: ACN), from July 2004 to November
2007. From December 2007 to September 2010, he worked at
Fair Isaac Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B {z &
Bt =) B BR A A]), a subsidiary of Fair Isaac Corporation, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: FICO),
where his last position was consultant. From October 2010 to
August 2016, Mr. Yang rejoined the Accenture (China) Co Ltd.
as a senior managet.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor’'s degree with a major in trade
and economics from Nankai University (FFIAZ) in the PRC
in June 2001 and obtained his master’s degree with a major in
finance from Peking University (3t 5 AX2) in the PRC in June
2004. Mr. Yang also obtained an EMBA degree from China
Europe International Business School (FFEUE R T E6) in
China in November 2017.
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Mr. Jiang Nan (£ ), aged 34, is the medical director of the
Group, the chief editor of the content team and a deputy head
of the Medical Information Science Research Unit. He joined
the Group in September 2013 and is responsible for overseeing
the professionalism of the medical content and medical team
management of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over eight years of
experience in the medical information technology industry. Mr.
Jiang was the editor-in-chief of medicine of Kingyee (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. (2 B XK (I R) B B R A F]) from September 2013
to August 2016 and the director of medicine of Beijing Jinye
Tiansheng Technology Co., Ltd. (It RE&E X BRI AR QA
since August 2018.

Mr. Jiang received his bachelor’s degree with a major in clinical
medicine from Qingdao University (5 & KX£) in the PRC in
June 2010 and obtained his master’s degree with a major in
psychiatry and mental health from Peking University (1t & K
) in the PRC in July 2013. Mr. Jiang received the Physician
Practicing License from Beijing Municipal Health Bureau (it
R WAL B) (currently known as Beijing Municipal Health
Commission (It R T AE 2 FFZ 8 F)) in September 2012.

Ms. Liu Juan (2/18), aged 38, is the assistant to Chairwoman
and the chief client officer of the Group. She joined the Group in
October 2010 and is responsible for assisting the Chairwoman
of the Group in managing day-to-day operation, sales team and
client communication. Ms. Liu has been the assistant to Ms. Tian
Liping since October 2013 and the chief client officer of Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & XK (L R) B AR Q7)) since July
2016. Ms. Liu has approximately 14 years of experience in human
resources management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liu worked
at Suning.com Group Co., Lid. (BA=E ZHEEBERMHBERAA), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002024), from July 2007 to August 2009 and was responsible for
management work. From May 2010 to October 2010, she worked
at Guangzhou Blue Moon Industrial Co., Ltd. (EME&E A =B ¥4
R 2 &]), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Blue Moon Group
Holdings Limited (8 A =& BIEARER A F]), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 06993) and was responsible
for human resources and administration management work. In
October 2010, Ms. Liu joined Beijing Jinye Tiansheng Technology
Co., Lid. (It R & EXEEHER AF]), where she served as
head of human resources department until October 2013.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor’s degree with a major in business
administration from Beijing Forestry University (1t k% K £2)
in the PRC in July 2007 and obtained her MBA degree from
University of International Business and Economics (¥} 9 4% %5 &
5 KE) in the PRC in July 2017.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yang Yanling (1 % ¥¥) was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on March 4, 2021. Ms. Yang joined
the Group in March 2018 and currently serves as a human
resources manager of the Group and is in charge of the overall
management of the human resources department and assists
in the management of other operation departments including
medical, design and creative departments. Before joining the
Group, Ms. Yang served as human resources specialist in
Beijing Suifang Information Technology Co., Ltd. (It =& 5 {5
BT AR AR from August 2015 to February 2018, a human
resources specialist in Beijing SDL Technology Co., Ltd. (It = 5
HBERI B R ) B R A &) from December 2014 to July 2015 and
worked in the human resources department in Beijing Zeyuan
Huitong Technology Development Co., Ltd. (1t Z 2R E @Rl %
ZFRAMR AR from March 2013 to November 2014. Ms. Yang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in agriculture from Hebei North
University (GATdEdE 75 8 Fx) in June 2013.

Ms. Szeto Kar Yee Cynthia ( & # % 14 ) was appointed
as a joint company secretary of the Company on 4 March
2021. Ms. Szeto is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and the Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the United
Kingdom. She obtained a bachelor’s degree of Arts in Language
Studies with Business from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2004 and a master’s degree of Science
in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from
City University of Hong Kong in July 2012. Ms. Szeto has
more than 12 years of professional and in-house experience
in the company secretarial field. She is a manager of the
listing services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited and is
responsible for providing corporate secretarial and compliance
services to listed companies. She is currently a company
secretary/joint company secretary of Inke Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3700), Ming Yuan
Cloud Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 909), First Service Holding Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2107),
Prinx Chengshan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1809) and UNQ Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2177).
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present this annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is the leading online professional physician platform
in China. The Group has focused on using technology to
support physicians’ clinical decision making for over 20
years. Its self-developed Medlive (Eiki®) platform is widely
recognized by physicians in China as the most popular
professional medical platform. The Medlive platform is available
through the Company’s website, desktop application and mobile
application.

The Group generates revenue by offering three categories
of solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions. The Group derives most of its
revenue from precision marketing solutions, which offer digital
healthcare marketing services to pharmaceutical and medical
device companies. The Group also offers various corporate
solutions that enable (i) pharmaceutical and medical device
companies to cost-effectively conduct market research; and (ii)
pharmaceutical and medical device companies, hospitals and
other stakeholders of the healthcare industry to improve the
efficiency of clinical trials and medical research.

The Group’s medical knowledge solutions satisfy the needs of
physicians for continuing medical education and clinical decision
support and the needs of other healthcare professionals
for professional medical information. The Group’s medical
knowledge solutions deliver medical knowledge content through
multiple user-friendly channels, including its website, mobile
applications, desktop applications, WeChat mini-programs and
WeChat official accounts.
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The Group’s intelligent patient management solutions offer
comprehensive chronic disease management services, including
(i) online patient consultation services and prescription services
and patient management services through Internet hospital; and
(i) condition specific patient education services in collaboration
with non-profit organizations. The Group's Internet hospital-
based chronic disease management currently focuses on
stroke and diabetes management and will gradually expand to
other chronic diseases in the future. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group's chronic disease management services platform
had accumulated approximately 115,000 users and in addition
approximately 35,000 participating physicians.

A list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, together with their
places of incorporation and operation, principal activities and
particulars of their issued shares/registered share capital, is set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF THE YEAR

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021, a discussion and analysis on the Group’s
future business development and the key financial and
operational performance indicators employed by the Directors in
measuring the performance of the Group’s business are set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 18 to 28 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is not subject to any significant health, safety or
environmental risks. The Group is committed to fulfilling social
responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development,
protecting the environment and giving back to community and
achieving sustainable growth. Details of such will be set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued
by the Company before end of May 2022, which report shall
contain the information required under Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules.

Report of Directors

ESERE

AEBNESEEETEMRATREHS
EE’J\XIEW* BRS  BIEGNHAE LM
2 MRS AR - Ih BB BB AR B iR i
%%Eﬁﬁﬁi’%v&(n)éﬁi#fﬁf'ﬁ&%éf’ﬁ
HERKTERBENEEHRERYE - ~5H
NEBBEER AERNEMEREEE
AMBETRFREERRER  BEITE
XL EREHMIEM KR o 8 £2021
F12A318 - ASEEMHERERE RS F
EERBEH150008HF B2 HE
Bl 4735,000% °

ARBEENE QRN R EEREEM
BB EE TE2EBREETR
o/ EZMBREANFE  EREAFHRES
SR -

EHOE
FEHERER

NEBEH EZ2021F12A31B L FE 2 ¥
%%@EE~*@E§ZJX%*%¥%%§EZE?

oM BEEAMRAGEAEEEDR
i\%EEZE i hkEERBEZHNA
FIRFEISEBE[EEEN wE D] —
B o

BRERRER

$%$ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ$&ﬂﬁﬁ&)§ T2 R
RRRER AEBEBHHET T
HERERAREEERE - 1%uxiai;¢\
CETETERAFELR - ZS5FHB
1 &R A DT 8 N202245 A &K B 2 1T HY
RIE - HEERRE  ERZEEIEC(E
TRAD M 27T ERKBAR -

%HJK?EH&EEE’RT
—EEH

_7_

39



40

Report of Directors

EEERE

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various PRC laws and regulations in
relation to its business in the PRC, including, without limitation,
in the aspects of online drug information services, Internet
advertising, Internet security, data privacy protection, value-
added telecommunication services and Internet hospital
business.

As far as the board of Directors (the “Board”) is aware, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group and have obtained all material
licenses, approvals and permits from relevant regulatory
authorities for the operations of the Group in the PRC. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, there has been no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes various stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders. The Group
strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging,
collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

The remuneration of employees of the Group will be based
on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
remuneration. The remuneration package of employees includes
basic salaries and performance-based bonus. Moreover, the
Group has also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a
post-IPO share option scheme and a share award scheme. The
remuneration policy of the Directors is reviewed and determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the Directors’
experience, responsibilities, workload and time devoted to the
Group and performance of the Group.

The Group’s customers primarily include (i) pharmaceutical
companies, medical device companies, hospitals, research
institutions and contract research organisations or CROs for
precision marketing and corporate solutions, (ii) physicians
and other users, including other healthcare professionals, for
medical knowledge solutions and (iii) patients, pharmaceutical
companies and non-profit organizations for intelligent patient
management solutions.
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The Group’s top suppliers are primarily providers of information
technology services, telecommunication services, customer
services, product procurement services, property rental services
and others.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
shareholders of the Company through focusing on business
strategies that aim to achieve sustainable profit growth and
rewarding shareholders with dividend payouts taking into
account the business development needs and financial health of
the Group and/or growth in the Company’s valuation.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the Group’s business. The Board
is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks and the
principal risks and uncertainties are summarized below:

° the growth of the Group depends on its ability to monetize
the Medlive platform. Failure to successfully implement
the Group’s monetization strategies or business initiatives
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations;

° the Group’s customers primarily include pharmaceutical
and medical device companies. A limited number of
customers have contributed a significant portion of the
Group’s revenues in the past. The Group’s high customer
concentration exposes it to risks faced by its major
customers and the Group may be subject to significant
fluctuations or declines in revenues;

Report of Directors

ESERE

AEENZEHEBREIERE SRR
BEBERE BEPR%E EmFBER
% MEMERGREMREOHEER

AEENFTEEEEBBEIEEER
ARKEMNEERNEBREBRAAFR
RERZFABR  TRERAEEHE
BERBRRMBMRR R HARQF MR
BERMNBEATARTRERE -

HE2021F12A3BILFE - REBEH
HER FRPE/SEMBEEZEL
BEENERES -

FERBRRAVMERRRRETE
AEBENEBLZERREANREIXERER

=EE E¢—%I§E%%l% i
SURARAEEXBEMEANREE -
EXEeAXAcEHERRAR T8
[\ B A EABAR =B an s

e AEEBEMNERIRAERBEIF
FEaRBMBBEN - BIAKIE IR
EEMABF KBS EEEEA %ﬁ
AEBEMER - %%%%&ﬁ
BEEXEATHEE

. $$lm%ﬁiga%%1& £
REAR - AREBENKE DK
BRELVBEF AEENAFPE
TERS AHEAEEEREESR

Frr@2lmE g - & B a4 s Ik
QPN EIE SN
%HJK?EH&EEE’RT

—EEH

_7_

41



42

Report of Directors

EEERE

even though the Company implements measures to
review medical knowledge information and sponsored
information in light of the relevant laws and regulations as
well as internal guidelines before they are published on the
Company’s platform, such measures may not be effective
and the Company may still be held liable for information
displayed on, retrieved from or linked to the Company’s
platform or created by the Group;

any damage to the reputation and recognition of the
Group’s brand names, or failure to maintain or enhance
users’ trust in the Company’s platform, may materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business operations and
prospects;

failure to manage external physicians with whom the
Group collaborates to offer Internet hospital services may
subject the Group to penalties or medical liability claims
in connection with its Internet hospital services under the
intelligent patient management solutions, which could
cause the Group to incur significant expenses and be
liable for significant damages if any claim is not covered by
insurance;

the Group’s clinical research services under the corporate
solutions rely on hospitals and their physicians and other
supporting staff to update and enrich healthcare data
through their diagnosis and research activities and the
Group is not able to guarantee the accuracy, quality and
timeliness of such data;

the Company may become subject to claims, lawsuits and
liabilities in connection with its patient recruitment service
under the corporate solutions if any of these patients
incur personal injury or other harms from drugs or devices
tested on them;

failure to keep up with rapid changes in technologies
or adapt the Company’s platform to changing user
requirements or emerging industry standards, or if the
Group’s efforts to invest in the development of new
technologies are unsuccessful or ineffective, its business
may be materially and adversely affected; and
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° the Group is subject to extensive and evolving regulatory
requirements. The Group may be adversely affected by the
complexity, uncertainties and changes in PRC regulations
of healthcare, digital healthcare and Internet-related
business and companies, including limitations on its ability
to own key assets.

The Company believes that risk management is essential to
the Group’s efficient and effective operation. The Company’s
management assists the Board in evaluating material risk
exposure arising internally and externally from the Group’s
business, including operational risks, financial risks,
regulatory risks, etc. and proactively setting up appropriate
risk management and internal control mechanism which is
embedded in daily operation management.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING YEAR

On 17 January 2022, the Board resolved to grant a total of
500,000 share awards (“Share Awards”) to an employee
pursuant to the share award scheme adopted by the
Company on 24 December 2021. The amount payable by the
employee upon acceptance of the grant of the Share Awards
is US$0.00001 per Share Award. No further consideration
is payable by the employee upon vesting. A total of 500,000
Shares underlying the Share Awards were allotted and issued
by the Company to Futu Trustee Limited, the independent
professional trustee in respect of the share award scheme, on
21 January 2022. The closing market price of the Shares on 21
January 2022 is HK$20.05. Further information on the grant of
the Share Awards is set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 January 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there was no important event affecting
the Group which occurred after the end of the Reporting Year
up to the date of this annual report.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2022

In 2022, the Group will continue its efforts to further solidify its
position as the leading online professional physician platform
in China by pursuing the strategies set out in pages 16 to 17 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

Since the date of listing of the Company, being 15 July 2021 (the
“Listing Date”) and up to the date of this Directors’ Report, the
Directors are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tian Liping (Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian Lixin
Mr. Tian Lijun
Ms. Zhou Xin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya
Dr. Li Zhuolin

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Yeh
Dr. Ma Jun
Ms. Wang Shan

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 37 of this
annual report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of the Company’s executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company on 18 June 2021, and each
of the Company’s non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors have signed letters of appointment with
the Company. The service contracts with each of the executive
Directors and the letters of appointment with each of the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive directors
are for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 18
June 2021 in the case of the executive Directors and from the
Listing Date in the case of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors. The service contracts
and letters of appointment may be terminated in accordance
with the respective terms thereof. The service contracts may
be renewed in accordance with the Company’s amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles
of Association”) and the applicable Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Tian Lijun, Ms. Zhou Xin and Ms. Wang Shan shall retire by
rotation at the annual general meeting (the “Annual General
Meeting” or “AGM”) and they being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Report of Directors

ESERE

EERBEVREEE

KAREZEHITESC N2021F6A18H &2
AARGIMREEL ARG S IE#HR
TEERBIYERNTESE EBARAG]
VYERE - ZRTESHRBEALORLE
BN TEERBYERTESI VN
ZEENVILETEFH A BE2021F6H18
HptarmESEms) X EHE(FIER
TEERBIURTEETMS) B =F -
REEHOREZEAENRESBIERKL -
IRE A QAR BADTKEITREHNNCK
HYMCABERMBANCARERMA))
RBREABARIMBRARESL
MRA(KEHBRADEH -

REBGEBEREAADFE619F ALE
FHE -AMREIREMZETEARBRRE
FRE(RRBEXED LHERE I
BERNERBEFRASLEESE-

BREERRBFASLEREINE
EWMBERARA L ANKEEMRKE QT
RIS MW A AT ER B OF 2 B E BRI Rl E
ER—FRABERLEANZMBE AN

BEHEE -

EEFHRAEREHFMAL

ERASEESEHFHRIEESFTHA
THFHBERANFERE AP RERMES
&9 e

BIENEERA R
R -FFR

45



46

Report of Directors

EEERE

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Richard Yeh serves as an executive director and the chief
financial officer of Abbisko Cayman Limited, which became
listed on the Stock Exchange on 13 October 2021 (stock code:
2256).

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
Directors’ biographical details which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Directors believe that effective talent management is the
foundation for the Group’s successful long-term development.
The Group greatly values its employees and will continue to
attract, cultivate and retain talent. The Group has adopted
comprehensive training program, pursuant to which employees
regularly receive training from management, technology,
regulatory and other internal speakers or external consultants.
All employees are eligible to attend relevant internal trainings
and they may also attend external trainings upon their
supervisors’ approvals. The Group compensates employees with
base salaries and performance-based bonuses. The Group has
designed an annual review system to assess the performance
of its employees, which forms the basis of the determinations
on salary raises, bonuses and promotion. The Directors believe
the salaries and benefits that the Group’s employees receive are
competitive with market standards. In addition, the Company
has adopted share incentive schemes to incentivize employees
and senior management and to align their interests with that of
the Company.
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PENSION SCHEME

Details of the Group’s pension scheme are set out in notes 2.4
and 6 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES
POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 June 2021, a post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was approved
and adopted by the shareholders of the Company. The
purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to incentivize
and reward the employees (whether full time or part-time) or
directors of members of the Group or associated companies of
the Company (the “Eligible Persons”) for their contribution to
the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company
so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company. Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, the Board (including any committee or delegate of the
Board appointed by the Board to perform any of its functions
pursuant to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme)
may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant an option to an
Eligible Person to subscribe for such number of shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) as the Board may determine.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option or share award
schemes, including the share award scheme adopted and which
took effect on 24 December 2021 (the “Other Schemes”)
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date, being
69,017,600 Shares, or such higher limit as the Stock Exchange
may allow pursuant to a waiver granted at the Stock Exchange’s
discretion (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any
Other Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the Scheme Mandate Limit.

At any time, the maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and not
yet exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any
Other Schemes to Eligible Persons must not exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time.
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No options shall be granted to any Eligible Person under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any Other Schemes which,
if exercised, would result in such Eligible Person becoming
entitled to subscribe for such number of Shares as, when
aggregated with the total number of Shares already issued or
to be issued to him under all options granted to him (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of offer of such options,
exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date or such higher
limit as the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to a waiver
granted at the Stock Exchange’s discretion. Any further grant
of options to an Eligible Person in excess of this 1% limit or
such higher limit as the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to
a waiver granted at the Stock Exchange’s discretion shall be
subject to the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
with such Eligible Person and his close associates (or if such
Eligible Person is a connected person of the Company, his
associates) abstaining from voting.

Share options granted shall be open for acceptance for a period
of not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the date of
offer of the share options, provided that no such offer shall
be open for acceptance after the expiry of the duration of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. An offer of share options not
accepted within this period shall lapse. An amount of HK$1.00
is payable upon acceptance of the grant of share options and
such payment shall not be refundable and shall not be deemed
to be a part payment of the exercise price.
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The exercise price shall be such price as determined by the
Board and notified to an option-holder and which shall not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of offer of the share option; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Shares.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date.
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2021, the remaining life of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately 9.5 years.

Any share option shall be vested on an option-holder
immediately upon his acceptance of the offer of share options
provided that if any vesting schedule and/or conditions are
specified in the offer of the share option, such share option shall
only be vested on an option-holder according to such vesting
schedule and/or upon the fulfillment of the vesting conditions (as
the case may be). Any vested share option which has not lapsed
and which conditions have been satisfied or waived by the
Board in its sole discretion may, unless the Board determines
otherwise in its absolute discretion, be exercised at any time
from the next business day after the offer of share options has
been accepted. Any share option which remains unexercised
shall lapse upon the expiry of the option period, which period
shall be determined by the Board and shall not exceed ten years
from the offer date of the share option or such longer period as
the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to a waiver granted at
the Stock Exchange’s discretion.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2021. The total number of Shares
which may be issued on the exercise of share options granted
or to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and any Other Scheme is 69,017,600, representing 9.67% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 29 March 2021, a pre-IPO share option scheme (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was
adopted. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is intended to
provide employees of the Group with an opportunity to enjoy
its success and incentives to their future performance. The
principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are nearly
the same as the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
except for the following:

(@) save for the Pre-IPO Share Options granted on 2 April
2021, no further Pre-IPO Share Options will be granted on
or after the Listing Date;

(b) the option period in respect of the Pre-IPO Share Options
granted shall be from the Listing Date until the 5th
anniversary of the Listing Date, after which unexercised
Pre-IPO Share Options shall lapse and the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall terminate. Accordingly, the remaining
life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately
4.5 years;

() the Pre-IPO Share Options shall be vested in four equal
tranches with the vesting date on the first, second, third
and fourth anniversary date of the Listing Date;

(d) the total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Pre-IPO Share Options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 26,754,000 Shares, representing 3.75% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report; and

(e) the exercise price per Share shall be RMB0.38 per Share.
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Pre-IPO Share Options for an aggregate of 26,754,000 Shares,
representing 3.75% of the issued share capital of the Company
have been granted to 62 grantees on 2 April 2021 and all
grantees have accepted the grant. No further share options
have been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
after that date and no further share options can be granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme after the Company’s
listing on the Stock Exchange. Each Grantee is required to pay
RMB1.00 by way of consideration for the grant of the Pre-IPO
Share Options. Particulars of the outstanding share options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out
below:

No. of Shares
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Tian Liping (Chairwoman, Chief Executive 2 April 2021 - 10,136,000 - - - 10,136,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
Offcer and executive Diector)
RIT(EEL BRATERHTES) NNFARA 2ETASAZNE A58
Tian Lixin (xecutie Diectoy) 2 April 2021 - 2,650,000 - - - 2,550,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
kit 2 200154R28 2ETASAZNE A58
Tian Liun farecutive Diector) 2 April 2021 - 2,650,000 - - - 2,550,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
BUE#7EZ) 2215 4R2H 25 TASAZNE A58
Zhang Xiaofeng (Spouse of s, Tian 2 April 2021 - 100,000 - - - 100,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
Liping)
RREHITALIER) 20215 4R2H 2ETABAZABETAA
Liu Lingdi spouse of M Tian Livin) 2 April 2021 - 100,000 - - - 100,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
YRRFU#EL28R) 20154R2A WAETABAZABETAA
Employees 2 April 2021 - 11,316,000 - - - 11,316,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
3 1%4728 NETHIBAZ206ETH15R
Total 26,754,000 - - - 26,754,000
)

(1) The above share options shall be vested in four equal tranches with vesting date on 15 July 2022, 15
July 2023, 15 July 2024 and 15 July 2025.

(1) LOEREEANEASEHIAEE FB
H 8 5 Bl £2022F7H15H « 2023%F7H15
H - 2024F 78150 Kk2025%7H158 °
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board adopted a share award scheme which took effect
from 24 December 2021 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The
main purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to encourage and
retain selected personnel to work for the Group or to make
contribution to the Group and to provide additional incentive for
them to achieve performance goals, with a view to achieving the
objective of increasing the value of the Company and aligning
the interests of the selected personnel with the Shareholders
through ownership of Shares.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration
of the Board or any committee of the Board delegated with the
power and authority by the Board to administer the Share Award
Scheme from time to time (the “Administration Body”).

The eligible participants of the Share Award Scheme are
employees (full time or part time), directors, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company, its subsidiaries or holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries and associated companies of the
Company (the “Eligible Participants”).

The Administration Body may, at its absolute discretion and in
fulfilment of the purposes of the Scheme, grant such number of
share awards to any Eligible Participant at the grant price and at
such vesting price as the Administration Body may determine.
The grant price, which is payable by the Eligible Participant
upon accepting the share awards, shall be US$0.00001 per
underlying Share of the share awards, being the par value of
the Shares. The vesting price, which is payable by the Eligible
Participant upon vesting, shall be such amount per underlying
Share of the share awards as determined by the Administration
Body at the time of grant, having taken into account factors
such as the position and past performance of the relevant
Eligible Participant. The vesting price can be nil. The Eligible
Participant shall also pay all fees, expenses and taxes in relation
to the transfer of Shares to him upon vesting.

The Administration Body shall determine and set out in the
grant letters the vesting conditions, which shall include minimum
period for which the share awards must be held before they
vest. Such minimum period shall not be less than one year and
shall not be more than 10 years. Other vesting conditions may
include performance targets of the individual Eligible Participant
and/or the Company. Share awards may be clawed back, i.e.
withheld or reduced, if the applicable performance targets are
not reached.
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The total number of Shares to be issued pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme, together with the total number of Shares to be
issued under all other share incentive schemes of the Company,
including without limitation, the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the effective date of the Share Award
Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit”). The
total number of Shares in issue as at that date is 713,225,500.
The Share Award Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed
by approval of shareholders of the Company, as permitted
and in accordance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules. No individual Eligible Participant shall be granted share
awards where such grant will result in him being granted in the
12-month period up to and including the date of grant, share
awards and share options in aggregate over 1% of the Shares
in issue at the time of grant (or such percentage limit permitted
under the Listing Rules from time to time), unless such grant is
approved by shareholders of the Company in a general meeting
where the grantee and his close associates have abstained from
voting.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on 24 December 2021. Accordingly,
as at 31 December 2021, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme is approximately 10 years.

No share award has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Award Scheme during the year ended
31 December 2021 and there are no outstanding share awards
as at that date. Accordingly, as at that date, the total number
of Shares which may be issued pursuant to share awards
granted or to be granted under the Share Award Scheme and
all other share incentive schemes is 71,322,550, representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report.

On 17 January 2022, the Company appointed Futu Trustee
Limited as an independent trustee for the purpose of the
Share Award Scheme. Futu Trustee Limited is a trust company
registered under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter
29 of the Laws of Hong Kong). It is a third party independent
of and not connected with the Company and/or any of its
connected persons.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December
2021, none of the Directors or their respective associates had
engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, during the
year ended or as at 31 December 2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

A. CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group is primarily engaged in the operation of an
online professional physician platform and mainly offers
three types of solutions, namely precision marketing and
corporate solutions, medical knowledge solutions and
intelligent patient management solutions.

Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., Ltd. (1t = & ik &
BRI AR AR) (“Yimaihutong”) operates the Group’s
Medlive website and desktop and mobile applications. The
provision of medical knowledge solutions on the Medlive
website and desktop and mobile applications involves
the provision by Yimaihutong of medical information
and content for fees (including membership fees) and
therefore is subject to restrictions under PRC regulations
relating to value-added telecommunication. Furthermore,
Yimaihutong is engaging in the business for any foreign-
related market investigation and planning to engage in
the production of online medical radio and television
video shows and programs. Once such production
commences, Yimaihutong will be engaging in the
production of radio and television video and programs and
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Internet culture business. Yimaihutong holds the relevant
licenses, including the value-added telecommunications
business operating license for provision of Internet
information services (the “ICP License”), the radio and
television program production license (the “Radio and
TV License”), the Internet cultural operation license
(the “Internet Culture License”) and the License for
Foreign-Related Investigation (the “Foreign-Related
Investigation License”), required for carrying out
the above services and operating the aforementioned
businesses. In addition, the business focus of‘ﬂnchuan
Yimaitong Internet Hospital Co., Ltd. (3F Il & Ik & & B
@B BB AR A AF) (“Yinchuan Yimaitong’), a Wholly—
owned subsidiary of Yimaihutong, is to provide online
consultation and e-prescription services through its own
platform through cooperation with a qualified hospital
in Ningxia Autonomous Region, or Internet hospital
services. Yinchuan Yimaitong holds the medical institution
practicing license (the “Medical Institution Practicing
License”), required for carrying out the Internet hospital
service. Furthermore, the business scope of Shangha
Yimaitong Huilin Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Huilin”), a 60% subsidiary of Yimaihutong, includes
data processing and storage support services which
are subject to foreign investment restrictions. In October
2021, the Group acquired 60% equity interest of Beijing
Medcon Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (t & FE 1=
BE AR LA (“Beijing Medcon”). Beijing Medcon
is a well-known software as a service or SaaS solution
platform for academic conferences in the PRC and is one
of the leading professional and prominent technology
providers in academic conference management focusing
on medical conference. Beijing Medcon currently holds (i)
the Radio and TV License; (i) the Internet Culture License;
and (i) the ICP License. The aforementioned businesses
conducted by Yimaihutong, Yinchuan Yimaitong, Shanghai
Huilin and Beijing Medcon (together the “Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”) are considered to involve (i) value-
added telecommunications services; (ii) foreign-related
market investigation business; (iii) radio and television
program production business; (iv) Internet culture business
(v) data processing and storage support services; and/or
(vi) Internet hospital services, which are subject to foreign
investment restrictions and/or prohibition under applicable
PRC laws and regulations.
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The revenue contribution of all of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the Group amounted to approximately
19.8% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the total
assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in aggregate
represent approximately 4.3% of the total assets of the
Group.

Because the businesses carried out by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities are subject to foreign ownership
restrictions and/or prohibitions, the Company does not
directly own any equity interests in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. Yimaihutong is held by Ms. Tian Liping as
to 50% and Dr. Li Zhuolin as to 50%, Yinchuan Yimaitong
is wholly-owned by Yimaihutong and Beijing Medcon is
owned as to 60% by Yimaihutong.

In line with common practice in industries in the PRC
subject to foreign investment restrictions, the Company
gains effective control over, and receives all the economic
benefits generated by the businesses currently operated by
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the contractual
arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
between the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (EE XK IER)EIHHEBRAF]) (Jinye
Tiancheng”), on the one hand, and Yimaihutong (which
holds the equity interests in Yinchuan Yimaitong and
Beijing Medcon) and Ms. Tian Liping and Dr. Li Zhuolin
(together, the “Registered Shareholders”), on the
other. The Contractual Arrangements allow the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to be consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Group under
HKFRS as if they were subsidiaries of the Group.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of
economic benefits from Yimaihutong to the Group as
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:

The Company
RRA]

i 100%

Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited

i 100%

Jinye Tiancheng

BERK

[A_—
[ —

Notes:
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denotes direct legal and beneficiary ownership in the equity

denotes contractual relationships under the Contractual Arrangements

denotes Consolidated Affiliated Entities

denotes the equity interests controlled by the Group under the Contractual Arrangements

The Registered Shareholders are Ms. Tian Liping and Dr.
Li Zhuolin (£ £ 3&), who holds 50% and 50% of the equity
interests in Yimaihutong, respectively.

The Exclusive Operations Service Agreement,

Option Agreement, Loan Agreements, Shareholders’ Rights

Exclusive

Entrustment Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Spouse
Undertakings (summaries of which are set out below) together
form the legal relationship under the Contractual Arrangements.
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Ms. Tian Liping is a controlling shareholder of the Company
and both Ms. Tian Liping and Dr. Li Zhuolin are Directors
of the Company and therefore they are both connected
persons of the Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing
Rules. As they each hold 50% of the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, each of Yimaihutong and its subsidiaries is
an associate of each of Ms. Tian Liping and Dr. Li Zhuolin
and a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

A description of each of the specific agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements is set out below.

Exclusive Operation Services Agreement

The Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong have
entered into exclusive operation services agreement
with Jinye Tiancheng on 8 March 2021 (the “Exclusive
Operation Services Agreement”), pursuant to which,
Yimaihutong agreed to engage Jinye Tiancheng as its
exclusive provider of technical support, consulting services
and other services in exchange for a service fee.
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Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, the
services to be provided include but are not limited to (i)
provide advice, support and assistance relating to the
operation of medical information business, investigation
business and e-detailing business, operation, project
and membership management and accounting and tax
management; (ii) formulate plans relating to Yimaihutong’s
current and future assets and business operations
and be responsible for implementing these plans; (iii)
provide opinions, suggestions and management to
improve Yimaihutong’s human resources and operational
capabilities; (iv) assist Yimaihutong in collecting technical
and commercial data and conducting market research and
provide industry information and management strategies;
(v) screen and recommend customers for Yimaihutong
and provide recommendations and strategies relating
to promotion; (vi) second Jinye Tiancheng’s technicians
and employees to Yimaihutong to provide technical
operation monitoring, market strategy research, and
formulate operating strategies; (vii) provide suggestions
and opinions on the establishment and improvement of
company structure, management system and department
configuration; (viii) screen and recommend suppliers for
Yimaihutong; (ix) license Yimaihutong the right to use all
necessary intellectual property rights of Jinye Tiancheng;
and (x) other relevant technical services, operation
and maintenance, equipment and facilities provision,
management and consulting services provided from time
to time at the request of Yimaihutong as permitted by the
laws and regulations of the PRC.
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Jinye Tiancheng has exclusive proprietary rights and
interests to all the intellectual properties developed or
created by itself from the performance of these services
and has the right to use such proprietary rights free of
charge.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, the
service fee shall be an amount equal to 100% of the
distributable net profit of Yimaihutong of a given audited
financial year, after deducting losses from the previous
financial years (if any) and any statutory provident fund
(if applicable). Apart from the service fees, Yimaihutong
shall reimburse all reasonable costs, reimbursed payments
and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Jinye Tiancheng
in connection with the performance of the Exclusive
Operation Services Agreement and provision of services.

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall become
effective from signing and shall continue to be effective
until being terminated in accordance with the terms
therein. According to the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement, unless otherwise required by applicable PRC
laws and regulations, none of the parties to the agreement
(except Jinye Tiancheng) is entitled to unilaterally
terminate the agreement. Furthermore, pursuant to the
Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, it may only be
terminated in the event that (i) continued performance
of the obligations of the agreement will result in violation
of or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules or the requirements of the
Stock Exchange, (i) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person(s) directly holds all the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity
interests in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.
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Exclusive Option Agreement

On 8 March 2021, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into the exclusive
option agreement (the “Exclusive Option Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, (i) each of the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally
grants an exclusive option to Jinye Tiancheng which
entitles Jinye Tiancheng to elect to purchase at any
time, itself or through its designated person(s), when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, (a) all or
any part of the equity interests in Yimaihutong and (b)
the Registered Shareholders’ present and future rights,
interests, income, claims, current or future receivables
and compensations related to their equity interests in
Yimaihutong and dividends and other payments distributed
from Yimaihutong to the Registered Shareholders from time
to time and (i) Yimaihutong irrevocably and unconditionally
grants an exclusive option to Jinye Tiancheng which
entitles Jinye Tiancheng to elect to purchase at any time,
itself or through its designated person(s), when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the assets
of Yimaihutong. The transfer price of the relevant equity
interests and assets shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC law, and each of the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong will undertake that she/
it will, subject to applicable PRC laws, return in full the
consideration received in relation to such transfer of equity
interests or assets to Jinye Tiancheng.
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The Registered Shareholders undertake to develop the
business of Yimaihutong and not to take any action which
may affect their asset value, goodwill and effectiveness
of business licenses. Furthermore, in the absence of
prior written consent of Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders shall not (i) transfer or otherwise dispose
of any option under the Exclusive Option Agreement, or
create any encumbrances thereon; and Yimaihutong shall
not assist in transferring or otherwise disposing of any
option under the Exclusive Option Agreement, or creating
any encumbrances thereon; (i) require Yimaihutong to
distribute dividends or other forms of profit distribution in
respect of their equity interest of Yimaihutong. In any event,
if the Registered Shareholders receive any of Yimaihutong’s
income, profit distribution, or dividends, the Registered
Shareholders shall, within the scope permitted by laws and
regulations of the PRC, waive the receipt of such income,
profit distribution, or dividends, and immediately pay the
same to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s); (iii)
directly or indirectly (by itself or through the entrustment
of any other natural person or legal person entity) carry
out, own or acquire any business that competes with or
will likely compete with the business of Jinye Tiancheng or
the Group; and (iv) engage in business operations or any
other conduct which will adversely affect Jinye Tiancheng’s
reputation.

In the absence of prior written consent of Jinye Tiancheng,
Yimaihutong shall not (i) directly or indirectly dispose
or dilute the rights and interests of its subsidiary and
branches; (i) change its principal business, conduct any
business activities that may have a significant impact on
its assets, business, rights and operations; (iii) carry out
merger, form partnership or joint venture with any person,
acquire or invest in any person, carry out division or
reorganization, amend its articles of association or any joint
venture contract and change registered capital or the form
of the company; and (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow
any debt, except (a) debts generated in the normal course
of business other than through loans; and (b) debts that
have been disclosed to, and approved in writing by, Jinye
Tiancheng.
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In addition, the Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong
undertake that, upon Jinye Tiancheng issuing the notice
to exercise the option in accordance with the Exclusive
Option Agreement, they will implement necessary actions
to effect the transfer and relinquish any pre-emptive
right, if any. Each of the parties to the Exclusive Option
Agreement confirms and agrees that (i) in the event of a
dissolution or liquidation of Yimaihutong under the PRC
laws, all the residual assets which are attributable to the
Registered Shareholders shall be transferred to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s) at the minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law, and each of the
Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong undertakes that
they will, subject to applicable PRC laws, return in full the
consideration received in relation to such transfer to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s), (i) in the event of
bankruptcy, death or incapacity divorce of the Registered
Shareholders, change of shareholders or any other event
which causes changes to the Registered Shareholders’
shareholding in Yimaihutong, the successor of the
Registered Shareholders’ equity interest in Yimaihutong
shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements, and
(i) any disposal of shareholding in Yimaihutong shall be
governed by the Contractual Arrangements unless Jinye
Tiancheng consents otherwise in writing.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall become effective
from signing. The Exclusive Option Agreement has an
indefinite term and a termination provision which stipulates
that the Exclusive Option Agreement may only be
terminated in the event that (i) continued performance of
the obligations of the agreement will result in violation of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations,
the Listing Rules or the requirements of the Stock
Exchange, (ii) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s)
directly holds all the equity interests in Yimaihutong,
and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity interests
in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.
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Loan Agreements

Pursuant to the loan agreement dated 6 November
2013 between Jinye Tiancheng and Ms. Tian Liping
and the loan agreement dated 2 March 2021 between
Jinye Tiancheng and Dr. Li Zhuolin (together, the “Loan
Agreements”), Jinye Tiancheng (i) made a loan in an
amount of RMB1,000,000 to Ms. Tian Liping for the
capitalization of Yimaihutong and (i) made a loan in an
amount of RMB1,260,998.02 to Dr. Li Zhuolin primarily for
the payment of the consideration for the transfer of the
equity interest in Yimaihutong in March 2021. Pursuant to
the Loan Agreements, the Registered Shareholders can
only repay the loans by the sale of all their equity interest
in Yimaihutong to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person. The Registered Shareholders must sell all of their
equity interests in Yimaihutong to Jinye Tiancheng or its
designated person and pay all of the proceeds from sale
of such equity interests or the maximum amount permitted
under PRC law to Jinye Tiancheng. In the event that
Registered Shareholders sell their equity interests to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person with a price equivalent
to or less than the amount of the principal, Jinye Tiancheng
shall waive the repayment of the remaining amount. If the
price is higher than the amount of the principal, the excess
amount will be paid to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person. The Loan Agreements do not have a term and
the loans must be repaid immediately under certain
circumstances, including, among others, (i) the death
of the Registered Shareholders or when the Registered
Shareholders become persons with limited capacity, (ii)
the Registered Shareholders are suspected of criminal
activities or (iii) breach of the terms and conditions of the
Loan Agreements.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement

On 8 March 2021, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into the
shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably and
unconditionally agree to authorize Jinye Tiancheng (and its
successors or liquidators) or a natural person designated
by Jinye Tiancheng (the “Attorney”) to exercise all of his/
her rights and powers as a shareholder of Yimaihutong (as
applicable), including without limitation:

o to suggest, propose and attend shareholders’
meetings of Yimaihutong and to execute any
and all meeting notices, written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

° to file documents with the relevant companies
registry;

o to exercise all shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s
voting rights in accordance with PRC laws and the
constitutional documents of Yimaihutong, including
but not limited to (i) deal, manage and obtain the
assets of, and obtain the income of, Yimaihutong; and
(i) the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all

of the equity interests in Yimaihutong;

° to nominate or appoint the directors, supervisors,
general manager and other senior management of
Yimaihutong; and

o to make decisions on major matters related to
Yimaihutong’s business and review and approve all
relevant reports and plans.

As Jinye Tiancheng is a subsidiary of the Company, the
terms of the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
will give the Company control over all corporate decisions
made by such Attorney and exercise management control
over Yimaihutong.
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The Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement shall
become effective from signing and has an indefinite
term. The Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
may only be terminated in the event that (i) continued
performance of the obligations of the agreement will result
in violation of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules or the requirements of
the Stock Exchange, (i) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person(s) directly holds all the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity
interests in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

On 8 March 2021, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into equity pledge
agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”). Pursuant to
the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholders
agree to pledge (i) all of their respective equity interests
in Yimaihutong to Jinye Tiancheng, and (ii) the Registered
Shareholders’ present and future rights, interests, income,
claims, current or future receivables and compensations
related to their equity interests in Yimaihutong and
dividends and other payments distributed from
Yimaihutong to the Registered Shareholders from time to
time, to secure performance of, among other things, their
obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement.

If Yimaihutong declares any dividend during the term
of the pledge, Jinye Tiancheng is entitled to receive all
dividends or other income arising from the pledged equity
interests, if any. In case of any breach of obligations by
any of the Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong, Jinye
Tiancheng, upon issuing a written notice to the Registered
Shareholders, will be entitled to all remedies available in
the Contractual Arrangements including but not limited to
disposing of the pledged equity interests.
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In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the
Registered Shareholders undertake to Jinye Tiancheng,
among other things, not to transfer their pledged equity
interests and not to create or allow any pledge or
encumbrance thereon that may affect the rights and
interest of Jinye Tiancheng without its prior written
consent. Yimaihutong undertakes to Jinye Tiancheng,
among other things, not to consent to any transfer of the
pledged equity interests or to create or allow any pledge
or encumbrance thereon without Jinye Tiancheng’s prior
written consent.

The pledge in respect of Yimaihutong takes effect upon the
completion of registration with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce and shall remain valid until
after (i) all the contractual obligations under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed; (i)
all the outstanding debts under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully paid; (i) Jinye Tiancheng,
as permitted by the laws and regulations of the PRC,
decides to purchase all the equity interest in and/or assets
of Yimaihutong held by the Registered Shareholders in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement; and (iv)
the equity interest of the Registered Shareholders has been
transferred to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s)
in accordance with the laws and regulations of the PRC
and Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s) can legally
engage in Yimaihutong's business.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
signing. The Equity Pledge Agreement has an indefinite
term and a termination provision which stipulates that the
Equity Pledge Agreement may only be terminated in the
event that (i) continued performance of the obligations of
the agreement will result in violation of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
or the requirements of the Stock Exchange, (ii) Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s) directly holds all the
equity interests in Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered
Shareholders’ equity interests in Yimaihutong or all of
the assets of Yimaihutong attributable to the Registered
Shareholders are transferred to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations or (iii) Jinye
Tiancheng unilaterally terminates the agreement.
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SPOUSE UNDERTAKINGS

The spouses of each of the Registered Shareholders have
each signed an undertaking (the “Spouse Undertakings”)
to the effect that he/she has no right to the respective
50% equity interests in Yimaihutong held by the Registered
Shareholders. Each of the Spouse Undertakings does not
have a term.

The above arrangements provide protection to the
Group even in the event of death or divorce of the
Registered Shareholders and the death or divorce of such
shareholder would not affect the validity of the Contractual
Arrangements, and Jinye Tiancheng or the Company can
still enforce their right under the Contractual Arrangements
against the Registered Shareholders and their successors.

OTHER KEY TERMS THEREUNDER
Dispute Resolution

Each of the agreements under the Contractual
Arrangements contains a dispute resolution provision.
Pursuant to such provision, in the event of any dispute
arising from the performance of or relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, any party has the right to
submit the relevant dispute to the Beijing Arbitration
Commission for arbitration, in accordance with the then
effective arbitration rules.

Succession

The provisions set out in the Contractual Arrangements
are also binding on any successor(s) of the Registered
Shareholders as if such successors were a signing party
to the Contractual Arrangements. As such, any breach by
the successors would be deemed to be a breach of the
Contractual Arrangements. Under the PRC Civil Code, the
statutory successors include the spouse, children, parents,
brothers, sisters, paternal grandparents and maternal
grandparents. In the case of a breach, Jinye Tiancheng
can enforce its rights against the successors.
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Conflicts of Interests

Each of Registered Shareholders undertakes that,
during the period that the Contractual Arrangements
remain effective, they shall not take or omit to take
any action which may lead to a conflict of interest with
Jinye Tiancheng or Jinye Tiancheng’s direct or indirect
shareholders. If there is any conflict of interest, Jinye
Tiancheng shall have the right to decide in its sole
discretion on how to deal with such conflict of interest
in accordance with the applicable PRC laws. Registered
Shareholders will unconditionally follow the instructions
of Jinye Tiancheng to take any action to eliminate such
conflict of interest.

NO MATERIAL CHANGE TO CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

There has been no material change to the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements since the Listing Date.

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

There are the certain risks that are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the operations
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC do
not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if these laws or regulations or the interpretation of
existing laws and regulations change in the future,
the Group could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual
Arrangements and may be forced to relinquish its
interest in those operations.

° Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership.
The Consolidated Affiliated Entities or the Registered
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements and the
Registered Shareholders may have potential conflicts
of interest with the Company.

o The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that
the Group owes additional taxes could negatively
affect its financial condition.
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o The Group’s current corporate structure and business
operations may be affected by the Foreign Investment
Law, which is relatively new and uncertainties exist
in relation to its interpretation and implementation,
and it remains uncertain whether the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed to be in violation of the
market access requirements for foreign investment in
the PRC.

° The Group may lose the ability to use, or otherwise
benefit from, the licenses, approvals and assets held
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities if any of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities declares bankruptcy
or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

° The Group does not have any insurance which covers
the risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks Relating to Our Contractual Arrangements”
in the Prospectus.

MITIGATION ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY

The Company’s management works closely with its
external legal counsels and advisors to monitor the
regulatory environment and developments in PRC laws
and regulations to mitigate the risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements.

The Group has adopted measures to ensure the
effective operation of the Group’s businesses with the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and its
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements, including,
among others:

()  major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review
and discussion as and when they arise;
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(i)  the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at
least once a year;

(i) the Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in
the annual reports;

(iv) the Company will engage external legal advisers or
other professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the
Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Jinye
Tiancheng and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
deal with specific issues or matters arising from the
Contractual Arrangements; and

(v) the independent non-executive Directors will review
the compliance of the Contractual Arrangements
on an annual basis and their confirmation will be
disclosed in the Company’s annual report.

WAIVER FROM THE STOCK EXCHANGE

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Company has applied to the Stock
Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver (i) pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from
strict compliance with the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements,
and (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the
transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under
Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement
of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements to
three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules,
for so long as Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
subject to certain conditions. For details, please refer to
the section “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
of the Company contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2021
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by
Yimaihutong to the holders of its equity interests which
are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group; and (i) no new transactions, contracts and
agreements or renewal of existing agreements have been
entered into between the Group and Yimaihutong during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONFIRMATION FROM THE COMPANY’S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN RESPECT OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young has issued its unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions in connection with Contractual
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2021, in
particular, confirming that the transactions have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements,
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the
holders of their equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED LICENSE AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated License Agreement
entered into by the Company, Yimaihutong and M3, Inc.
on 29 March 2021, (i) M3, Inc. granted to the Company a
non-transferable, exclusive license during the term of the
Amended and Restated License Agreement to (a) use and
integrate know-how concerning MR-kun and (b) provide
services relating to MR-kun (“MR-kun Services”) within
the mainland of the PRC (the “Territory”); and (i) M3,
Inc. will provide the Company with continuous assistance,
update and know-how related to MR-kun including (a)
MR-kun marketing support and (b) provide support and
assistance in respect of e-detailing to the extent related to
the MR-kun Services.

The Amended and Restated License Agreement became
effective on 29 March 2021 and is valid until December 31,
2023.

In respect of the MR-kun Services, the Company shall
pay M3, Inc. a license and service fee which equals to ten
percent (10%) of the Gross Revenue generated from clients
of the Group that purchase or use the MR-kun Services
(“Clients”). “Gross Revenue” shall mean the total revenue
the Group receives from Clients in any way directly or
indirectly related to the MR-kun Services, excluding content
production fee and operation fee, and excluding any
discounts granted to Clients, unless otherwise agreed by
the parties from time to time in writing. “Content production
fee” shall mean the fee payable by the Clients to our Group
in consideration of its digital contents development service
for the relevant promotion campaign, and “operation fee”
shall mean the fee payable by the Clients to our Group in
consideration of its service for operating MR-kun portal
directly for the Clients’ project.

The license and service fees payable to M3, Inc. were
determined on the basis of arm’s length negotiations
between the parties which are the same as the rates M3,
Inc. charged its subsidiaries and the companies in which
M3, Inc. has an equity interest.
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The annual caps for the license and service fees payable
by the Group under the Amended and Restated License
Agreement for the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2021 and for the years ending 31 December
2022 and 2023 are RMB2.00 million, RMB2.60 million and
RMB3.38 million, respectively. For the period from the
Listing Date to 31 December 2021, the amount of license
and service fees payable by the Group under the Amended
and Restated License Agreement was RMBO0.31 million.

PRECISION MARKETING AND CORPORATE
SOLUTIONS SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement entered into by
the Company and M3, Inc. on 18 June 2021, the Company
provides digital market research services and digital
content creation and digital detailing services to M3, Inc.
and/or its associates.

The Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services
Framework Agreement became effective on 15 July 2021
and is valid for one year.

The service fee receivable by the Company under the
Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services
Framework Agreement is determined on normal
commercial terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis, on
similar basis as the Group conducts businesses with
other independent third parties and shall be at rates no
less favorable than rates at which the Company and/or its
subsidiaries charge independent third parties for similar
services.

The monetary cap for the service fees payable by M3, Inc.
and/or its associates under the Precision Marketing and
Corporate Solutions Services Framework Agreement for
the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021 is
RMB4.8 million. For the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2021, the amount of service fees payable by
the Group under the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement was RMB3.33
million.
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On 24 March 2022, the Company and M3, Inc. entered into
a renewal agreement to extend the term of the Precision
Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services Framework
Agreement to 31 December 2024 and to revise the annual
caps to RMB13.6 million, RMB13.6 million and RMB13.6
million for the years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024, respectively.

M3, Inc. is a controlling shareholder of the Company
and is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Amended and Restated License
Agreement and the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement (together, the
“M3, Inc. Continuing Connected Transactions”)
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

Waivers from the Stock Exchange

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver under
Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from strict compliance
with the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.35
of the Listing Rules in respect of the M3, Inc. Continuing
Connected Transactions.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT
OF THE M3, INC. CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected Transactions
and confirm that the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected
Transactions were entered into by the Group (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of its business; (i) on normal
commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions and on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONFIRMATION FROM THE COMPANY’S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN RESPECT OF
THE M3, INC. CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transaction
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued an
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected
Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of the date
of this annual report, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in accordance with the
provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.

Further details on related party transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this Report of Directors, none of
the related party transactions constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to
the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which would be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) were as follows:

() INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY

Name of Director/
Chief Executive
-9
BEITHRABHS

Nature of interest

sl

Ms. Tian Liping@®
Ay F4t+ee

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE S

Beneficial interest

EntEam

Interest of spouse

(SRR

Mr. Tian Lixin®@®
37 %7 5 A @@

Interest in controlled corporation
R LAEER

Beneficial interest

EmEn

Interest of spouse

B

Mr. Tian Lijun@®)
M F k£ 00

Beneficial interest

o s s
ExmEn
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
underlying shareholding
Shares interest

HEROHE BAOREEIL

267,540,000 37.51%
10,138,000 1.42%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 37.51%
2,550,000 0.36%
100,000 0.01%
2,550,000 0.36%
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Notes:

Q)

@

All interests stated are long positions.

Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun are brothers
and sister of each other. Tiantian Co., Limited is held as to
48%, 37% and 15% by Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr.
Tian Lijun, respectively. Tiantian Co., Limited directly holds
267,540,000 Shares, and Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
are deemed to be interested in the 267,540,000 Shares held by
Tiantian Co., Limited.

Ms. Tian Liping was granted Pre-IPO Share Options to
subscribe for 10,138,000 Shares. Ms. Tian Liping is deemed
to be interested in the Pre-IPO Share Options granted to Mr.
Zhang Xiaofeng, the spouse of Ms. Tian Liping, to subscribe for
100,000 Shares.

Mr. Tian Lixin was granted Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe
for 2,650,000 Shares. Mr. Tian Lixin is deemed to be interested
in the Pre-IPO Share Options granted to Ms. Liu Lingdi, the
spouse of Mr. Tian Lixin, to subscribe for 100,000 Shares.

Mr. Tian Lijun was granted Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe
for 2,550,000 Shares.

As at 31 Decemer 2021, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 713,225,500.
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(m

INTEREST IN THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARY,
BEIJING YIMAIHUTONG TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.

Name of Director/

Chief Executive Nature of interest
B

BESTHRABH®HS EEME

Ms. Tian Liping Beneficial owner
Bzt Ex#EAA

Dr. Li Zhuolin Beneficial owner
TERBL EmlEA A

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors were
aware, as of 31 December 2021, no persons (excluding
the Company) were directly or indirectly interested in 10%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Nature of interest
e/ LB EEME
Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng® Interest of spouse
RS A A 48 &
Interest of spouse
Bic 48 # 25

Beneficial interest

B N 4o Sz
EnEn

Ms. Liu Lingdi® Interest of spouse
BABEL Lo iR
Interest of spouse
Bic 48 # 25
Beneficial interest
EnfEsn

Tiantian Co., Limited® Beneficial owner

EDmBEBA

M3, Inc.® Beneficial owner
EnBEAEA

Sony Group Corporation® Interest in controlled corporation
PR B
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Number of percentage of
underlying shareholding
Shares interest
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2,550,000 0.36%
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Notes:
(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2)  Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng was granted Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe
for 100,000 Shares. Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng is the spouse of Ms. Tian
Liping. Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng is deemed to be interested in 267,540,000
Shares in which Ms. Tian Liping is interested and the Pre-IPO Share
Options granted to Ms. Tian Liping to subscribe for 10,138,000
Shares.

(3)  Ms. Liu Lingdi was granted Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
100,000 Shares. Ms. Liu Lingdi is the spouse of Mr. Tian Lixin. Ms.
Liu Lingdi is deemed to be interested in 267,540,000 Shares in which
Mr. Tian Lixin is interested and the Pre-IPO Share Options granted to
Mr. Tian Lixin to subscribe for 2,550,000 Shares.

(4)  Tiantian Co., Limited is held as to 48%, 37% and 15% by Ms. Tian
Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun, respectively.

(5)  Sony Group Corporation is interested in approximately 33.95% of
the shares of M3, Inc.. Sony Group Corporation is deemed to be
interested in the 267,540,000 Shares held by M3, Inc.. Sony Group
Corporation is the largest shareholder and an affiliate of M3, Inc..

(6) As at 31 Decemer 2021, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 713,225,500.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons who had any
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which would be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2021 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age)
to acquire benefits by an acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether for
the provision of services or otherwise, to the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenues from the
Group’s top five customers accounted for approximately 31.8%
of the Group’s total revenue, as compared to approximately
39.7% of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020. Revenue from the Group’s largest customer
accounted for 9.3% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2021, as compared to approximately 14.7%
of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
or any of their close associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5.0% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had
any interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 33.9% of the Group’s
total purchases, as compared to approximately 28.7% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 13.4%
of the Group’s total purchases, as compared to approximately
17.6% of the Group’s total purchases for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Except for M3, Inc. and its subsidiaries, all of the Group’s five
largest suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
independent third parties of the Group. Except for (i) M3, Inc.,
and (i) Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya, Ms. Zhou Xin and Dr. Li Zhuolin, each
of whom owned an insignificant amount of equity interest in, or
stock options granted by, M3, Inc., none of the Directors or any
of their close associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0%
of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
not entered into any contract with any individuals, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial
part of any business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or trusts or otherwise in relation
thereto in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors of the Group since the Listing Date.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 115 to 116 of this annual
report.
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FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
RMBO0.0170 (equivalent to HK$0.0209, based on the rate of
HK$1.00 to RMBO0.81201, being the official exchange rate of
HK dollars against Renminbi as quoted by the People’s Bank of
China on 23 March 2022) per Share. Subject to the passing of
the relevant resolution at the annual general meeting, the final
dividend will be paid in HK dollars. The final dividend will be
paid on or around 11 July 2022 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 20 June
2022.

Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the annual
general meeting, which is proposed to be held on 10 June
2022, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 16 June 2022 to 20 June 2022 (both days inclusive) for the
purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlements to the final
dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer
documents, accompanied by relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15
June 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s distributable
reserves calculated under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands comprise the share premium and other reserves totaling
approximately RMB3,868.1 million (2020: approximately RMB9.6
million).
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 July
2021. The net proceeds from the Global Offering (including
the exercise of the over-allotment option) was approximately
HK$4,677 million, which will be utilized for the purposes as set
out in the Prospectus and there is no change to the intended
use of proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus. The following
table shows a summary of the intended use of the net proceeds
and the utilization as at 31 December 2021:

Amounts expected
to be utilized as
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Remaining balance

disclosed in the  Utilization as at 31 asat Expected
Intended use of net proceeds Prospectus December 2021 31 December 2021  time of use
ARERHRE BZ2021F128318 HE2021F128318
FERERERTERAR ERBALHE EBRALE WeE BETBARE
(HKS millions) (HKS millions) (HKS$ millions)
(AE#ET) (AE#BT) (AEBTL)
A. Business Expansion
EBERR
(1) enhance medical knowledge solutions of the 561.3 1.5 559.8  before December 2025
Company and enrich medical knowledge
information and tools on the platform of the
Company
REARAMBEZNZBANE LEEAR 2025512 AF]
RATRMBEMEEERIA
(2) improve patient care offerings 467.7 0.0 467.7  before December 2025
RAEEERRG 2025512871
(8) strengthen intelligent clinical research solutions 374.2 0.0 374.2  before December 2023
REBRRARAER R 2023512771
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Amounts expected
to be utilized as

Remaining balance

disclosed in the  Utilization as at 31 asat Expected
Intended use of net proceeds Prospectus December 2021 31 December 2021  time of use
ARERFHEE BZ20215128318 B 220215127831
FEREFERTRARE BRBALHE EBRASE Mg RITDARE
(HK$ millions) (HK$ millions) (HK$ millions)
(BBAT) (BBAT) (RBAT)
(4)  strengthen the relationships with the existing 3274 8.8 318.6  before December 2025
customers of the Company and develop and
attract additional customers in pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical device industries
EEARTERARPHBE RERRSE 2025512 AF]
LB ENEMRERERBETENER
(5) enhance user growth and engagement through 140.3 47 135.6  before December 2025
targeted sales and marketing activities
BAHHUHEERTSEHED  REAF 2025512871
BREZE
B. Investment in technology and enhancement of research and development capabilities
RERMRRBWEED
(1) recruit talent and collaborate with experts 701.6 10.6 691.0  before December 2023
REATREERAE 2023512771
(2) develop and expand the application scenarios 467.7 0.0 467.7  before December 2025
of technology of the Company, particularly,
machine learning, natural language processing,
knowledge graph and user understanding
RERBRALARMMERER LER 2025%F12 A
RESE BAFERE AIEELAP
B
(3) build up the data center of the Company and 233.9 1.2 232.7  before June 2023
strengthen the computing power and storage
capabilities of the IT infrastructure of the
Company
BUARAMBERLRRAARATERS 2023640

AR VIV
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Remaining balance

disclosed in the  Utilization as at 31 asat Expected
Intended use of net proceeds Prospectus December 2021 31 December 2021  time of use
AREBFHE #Z2021F128310 EHZ2021F12431A
FEREARERERR BRBALH EBAEE MBE BTDARH
(HK$ millions) (HK$ millions) (HK$ millions)
(BBAT) (BB (BB
C. Pursue strategic investments or 935.5 731 862.4 N/A
acquisitions opportunities
RPEERREIHWERS T iE A
D. General replenishment of the working 467.7 92.8 3749  N/A
capital of the Company and for other
general corporate purposes
BRAALNA-REBEESRH-REERR TiEA
Total 4,677.3 192.7 4,434.6

A 5t

As at 31 December 2021, unutilised proceeds were deposited
with licensed financial institutions in Hong Kong.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Incentive Schemes — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”
above. Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreement will
or may result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company in 2021
or subsisted at the end of 2021.

R2021F12A318 * XEAMEBRIEEF
ABBFEC RS -

ME HEXRODFELXAFTETES

B LW EEE E2021F12 8318 * XA T
SETMBARMERE  HEE
BERAAGE LHESF -

B IR i S5 15 58

EBEEXR L AHAEENBERESENFRE
FHREXRDERTE -—FRAAHES
AIREARAERT S —&D - BR EXCATI EEE S -
20216 3k 2021F K + AR F) BEMEE] 3L 3k
GEANBRZHBHE Mg
BEEHARRBITIROKNBERARRRL
TREESKITEERARRETRGH

53 o

BIENEERA R
R -FFR

87



88

Report of Directors

EEERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 89 to 106 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing
Rules, pursuant to which the minimum percentage of the Shares
from time to time held by the public shall be 24.98% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Waivers and Exemptions from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules and the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance” in the Prospectus.
Based on the information that is publicly available and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of more than 24.98% of the
Company'’s issued shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. A
resolution will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

Medlive Technology Co., Lid.

Tian Liping

Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the
firm belief that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and
performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the
expectations of stakeholders and comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are the
principles of corporate governance as adopted by the Company
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code on the Stock Exchange (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance.

Since the Listing Date to 31 December 2021, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions as set forth in
the CG Code, except for a deviation from the code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of the chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Details of such deviation are summarized
below in the subsection headed “Chairwoman and Chief
Executive Officer”.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
for securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, it is confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the Model Code since the Listing Date to 31
December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the contribution required of a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time in performing
them. The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises nine Directors. As at 31 December 2021
and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has
four executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Tian Liping (Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian Lixin
Mr. Tian Lijun
Ms. Zhou Xin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya
Dr. Li Zhuolin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Yeh
Dr. Ma Jun
Ms. Wang Shan

Since the Listing Date, the Board has, at all times, met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
requirement set out in the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages
29 to 37 of this annual report.
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The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time
to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, the Directors do not have any other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one
another.

CHAIRWOMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Ms. Tian Liping (“Ms. Tian”) is the chairwoman and chief
executive officer of the Company. With extensive experience
in the medical information technology industry, Ms. Tian is
responsible for formulating and implementing the overall
development strategies and business plans of the Group
and oversees the overall development and operations of the
Group. Ms. Tian founded the Group in 1996 and is instrumental
to the Company’s growth and business expansion since its
establishment. The Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairwoman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the senior
management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises
four executive directors (including Ms. Tian), two non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors and
therefore, in the Company’s view, has an appropriate level of
independence element in its composition.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2021 Annual Report

EEREWRBINDMTRARRRE(LED
BMEADA AR ZEHOMARRBRATEE -
REBECETR A - AR BB A E
ERBYIFENITES -

RIEZRSRERE] —HMEREEIN
E=RU AT BEREMBPE X5
Rk EMEKR HBBRE -

EERREBUTE

EREABTHUTAKRIEC21GMRTE -
EERMNEFOTENBREATESD
AAIARE—AEE -

AT+ (H&t)ARAAAESEE
HFERFNTE HXIBELYENEE
EEHMITELR AEFHEREREALR
SEEEBERBMBEESTE  URE
EALEBEMNEREREKREE - HLLR
1006F A L A B - BRI ARE AR
ANERREEBERZEEZE -EFQ
RAEHRA-—AETEZERAEFEHTE
EARAEEER SHAEEEBRES
THEBRLEMEBRMATHEANK  £E
ERREPSHERENRERNTE - £
EeEAANERITES(RIERLL) -
MEERATEER BB IUINITES
Mk A ARERAEEEEK LA
BEEBINITE -

EFgRARERINEBARANER -
NEBTERERTHRGERARAND
IKFEEERTER



APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract (in the
case of the executive Directors) or has been issued a letter of
appointment (in the case of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors) for a specific term of three
years, which is renewable by mutual consent and subject to the
Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the next following general
meeting of the Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall also be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision A.21 of the CG Code. These include
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company; reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the
Directors and employees of the Company; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code from time to time
adopted by the Company and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be contained in the Company’s annual
report.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgment on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that they remain informed and relevant for their
contribution to the Board.

In 2021, the Company organized training session conducted
by qualified professionals for all the Directors. Such training
sessions cover a wide range of relevant topics focusing on
directors’ duties and responsibilities. Relevant reading materials
including seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying prior to the training session.

Each of the Directors as at 31 December 2021, being Ms. Tian
Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun, Ms. Zhou Xin, Mr. Eiji
Tsuchiya, Dr. Li Zhuolin, Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma Jun and Ms.
Wang Shan attended the training session.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at Board meetings
and Board Committee meetings of the Company held since
the Listing Date to 31 December 2021 are set out in the table
below:

EERZRENEMHHFEILS

T RHE2021FE12 AR B ITH AR 7
B oaNEETSLECCERRES

B E RSN TR

Attendance/Number of Meetings
HE E2RE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
EEgA 8 ENEEE FMEEE REZEE
Ms. Tian Liping 4/4 — - 11
¥R+

Mr. Tian Lixin 4/4 — — —
A 8L

Mr. Tian Lijun 4/4 — — -
HYEx4E

Ms. Zhou Xin 4/4 — — —
Azt

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya 4/4 — — —
REE_R%4E

Dr. Li Zhuolin 4/4 - - -
FEREL

Mr. Richard Yeh 4/4 2/2 11 11
EREA

Mr. Ma Jun 4/4 2/2 11 11
SERM

Ms. Wang Shan 4/4 2/2 1/ 11
Tt

Since the Listing Date to 31 December 2021, the Company held
four Board meetings in total to, among other things, approve
the Company’s 2021 interim results and report, consider and
approve the acquisition of 60% of equity interests in Beijing
Medcon, review the Group’s financial performance in the third
quarter of 2021 and to approve and adopt the Share Award
Scheme. No shareholders meeting was held from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2021.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the period from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2021. The Audit Committee
also met the external auditors once during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 December 2021 without the presence of the
executive Directors and the management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting and the
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the period from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2021.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

All the members of the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors, and the
majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang Shan, Mr. Richard Yeh
and Dr. Ma Jun. Ms. Wang Shan, being the chairwoman of the
committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section D.3 of the
CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal controls system of the Group, oversee the audit
process, review and oversee the existing and potential risks
of the Group and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021,
the Audit Committee held two meetings to review the 2021
interim results and reports, the financial performance of the
Group in the third quarter of 2021 and significant issues on the
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control
and risk management systems.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma
Jun and Ms. Wang Shan, all being independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Richard Yeh is the chairman of the committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section
E1 of the CG Code. The main duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish and review the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
and make recommendations on employee benefit arrangement.
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During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021,
the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review and
make recommendation to the Board on the adoption of the
Share Award Scheme.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:
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EE®E

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017% 7T & $3,500,000/% 7T 1

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely
Ms. Tian Liping, the chairwoman and chief executive officer,
Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma Jun and Ms. Wang Shan, being
independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Tian Liping is the
chairwoman of the committee. The majority of the Nomination
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section B.3 of
the CG Code. The main duties of the Nomination Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment of Directors and Board succession.

EEFHABENAFREAOMBRE
B 58 o

REZRE

REZECHANBKEEK HESFE
REFEATEALFLRL  BUFHRTT
EXEREL FEEBMAEWMLL-
AvFLLtREZEEETR -REZE
ERMOKBYIRBIIFNTES -

REAZBEENBEDEKRA T LERE
ATRE _FBIHAHERR - 125
ZEENIZBAERNZIEETRES

SHIERNE=TSRHEREZS -

BIENEERA R
R -FFR

99



100

Corporate Governance Report
EERERHRE

The Company has formulated and adopted the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) for compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions concerning the diversity
of board members. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach adopted by the Board regarding diversity of Board
members.

The Company recognizes the importance of achieving diversity
in the Board and the Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach to include and make good use of differences in the
talents, skills, knowledge, regional and industry experience,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, gender, length
of service and other qualities of the members of the Board.
In particular, there will be no discrimination on the ground of
race, age, gender or religious belief. These differences will be
considered in determining the optimum composition of the
Board and when possible should be balanced appropriately.

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, one-third of
whom are female Directors, including the Chairwoman of the
Company, Ms. Tian Liping, who is also a controlling shareholder
of the Company; Ms. Zhou Xin, an executive Director who was
originally seconded to the Company from MS3. Inc., another
controlling shareholder of the Company and Ms. Wang Shan, an
independent non-executive Director. The Company is of the view
that gender diversity in respect of the Board has been achieved.
Of the 502 employees of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
297 are female, including one senior management member.
Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is
also achieved in its workforce generally.
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
which sets out a set of nomination procedures and selection
criteria for Directors. The Nomination Committee shall evaluate
and select candidates based on the criteria by reference to
character and integrity, business experience relevant and
beneficial to the Company, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills and knowledge that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, willingness to
devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the
Board and other significant commitments, present needs of the
Board for particular expertise, skills or experience and whether
the candidates would satisfy those needs, requirement for
the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules and whether the candidates for independent
Directors would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and the
board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021 to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining
sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s
risk management and internal control systems provide a
comprehensive and organized structure with clearly defined
scopes of responsibilities, authorities and procedures.
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The Company has a designated risk management and internal
control team (the “team”) which is responsible for identifying
and monitoring the Company’s risks and internal control issues
and reports directly to the Board of any findings and follow-up
actions. All departments of the Company are required to adhere
to the Company’s internal control procedures and report to the
team of any risks or internal control issues. The Audit Committee
of the Board also reviews the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems on a regular basis.
Due to the existence of the team and the continuing review and
enhancement of the Company’s internal control measures, the
Company has not yet established an internal audit function.

The Board has received confirmation from the management that
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021:

— the financial records have been properly maintained and
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
operations and finances of the Group; and

— the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are effective.

Based on the framework for risk management and internal
control systems established by the Group, the Board and
the Audit Committee considered that, through the review of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
it can evaluate and improve their effectiveness. The Board,
with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, considered that
the Company’s internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance, were effective and adequate for the
year ended 31 December 2021 based on the work performed
and report prepared by the team as well as the confirmation
letter received by the management. The Company will perform
ongoing assessments to update all material risk factors on
a regular basis. In any case, review of risk management and
internal control systems by the Board will be conducted
annually.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board will conduct regular review and assessment of
inside information, discuss with the management or authorized
persons of the Company about disclosure of inside information
who have responsibility to report to the Board once any inside
information is identified for dissemination.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 107 to
114 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Articles of
Association. Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the members of the Company but no dividend shall
be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board. No dividend shall be declared or payable except out of
the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available for
distribution, including share premium. No dividend shall carry
interest against the Company. The Company may distribute
dividends by way of cash or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate, based on various factors such as the
Company'’s results of operations, cash flows, financial condition,
shareholders’ interests, capital requirements, payment to the
Company of cash dividend by its subsidiaries and other factors
that may be relevant. The Company will continue to re-evaluate
its dividend plan in light of its operation needs, earnings,
financial condition, working capital requirements and future
business plans as the Board may deem relevant at such time.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services
(including audit and internal control review services relating
to the Global Offering) for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to RMB5.5 million and RMBO0.4 million, respectively.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has engaged TMF Hong Kong Limited, external
service provider, and Ms. Szeto Kai Yee Cynthia has been
appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company. Her
primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Yang Yanling,
the other joint company secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries attended sufficient professional
training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to update their skills and
knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law for shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out
in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director” of the
Company which is posted on the Company’s website.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

CONTACT DETAILS

The contact details of the Company are set out in the
Company’s website (http://ir.medlive.cn).

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) will be available to meet shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at http://irmedlive.cn as a
communication platform with shareholders of the Company and
investors, where the financial information and other relevant
information of the Company are available for public access.

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange since
15 July 2021, no shareholders meeting has been held yet. The
Company will review the implementation and effectiveness of
its shareholders communication policy and report on the same
next year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In preparation for the Company’s Listing on the Stock Exchange,
the Company has adopted the Articles of Association, which
became effective on the Listing Date. Since the Listing Date and
up to the date of this report, then, the Company has not made
any changes to its Articles of Association. An up-to-date version
of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Medlive Technology Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Medlive Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 240, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Tk G EIEAT
BB AR REBEITN
Kot —BE271E

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BE RS

ey.com

B B R
HERENZAERATILKR
(RASHSEMARILHARRE)

BER

BB T/ EH N EI5E2408 B Ik B8
BMBEERAR(EATNRENB AT (&K
BEEEDNGEYBEREZ 2ER
2021F 12 H31H W 4R & B 7k L 32 » &2
HEZHLIFEMNGeEakEM42A
WER HEAESEZPHREEERER
EXRURGEEAUBEREINT 2REEE
SETBUORME -

BEMRAE SEAEVERRBER S ST
MAg((EREHWMAE)EANE S
HmEER((EBMBREEAN]DE
EMAFHRE HSER2021F12H31
HNGAMBERARBEZBELEEEDN
RAEVEBERRARGABEERE YEE
FTEBRAGHIOEZERCLERE -

BIENEARA R
R TR

Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
Fax{ZH: +852 2868 4432

107



108

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEEXER

Accounting for acquisition

Wi E R & it 5

On 12 October 2021, the Group acquired a 60%
equity interest of Beijing Medcon Information
Consulting Co., Ltd (“Medcon”) for a cash
consideration of RMB100,253,400. Management
engaged external appraisers to evaluate the fair
values of identifiable assets and liabilities and
contingent consideration with respect to the
acquisition of Medcon. This matter is significant to
our audit because the fair value determination in
the accounting for business combination relied on
significant management estimation in respect of fair
value assessments.

2021%F10A12H: BEEEBEHUBRETREARY
100,253,400t WHE It RE B RE B A AR A A
([RBEEI60%AE - EEEZIINRIAEMT
FRKBEaRABNEERBENRAEBEN
RIAREB - BREBEHNGAREFRIAE
EETKBEEERARABENGIELHEXNMGS -
AitzEReRME2EXER -

The Group’s disclosures about the acquisition
are included in note 2.4 Summary of significant
accounting policies and note 31 Business
combination, which specifically explain the
accounting policies and management’s accounting
estimates.

EEEAMANKBREH NN T24EA 25 B K
HELRMENRE S/ ETRHBRESTHREL
ERENEHEE -
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MEEXER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANERNMNEEBERERSE R

We obtained and read the equity transfer agreement
and examined the payment of considerations.
We assessed the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external appraisers engaged by
the Group to perform the valuation. We involved our
internal valuation specialist to assist us in evaluating
the valuation methodologies adopted and the
assumptions used, in the valuation of identifiable
assets and liabilities and contingent consideration
with respect to the acquisition of Medcon.
BPMSLHEREEEGZELIRERBRIE -
BMETE EEEAETHEMZRENINAGER
EEEE BUMBE BAZABEEZXRDBG
Bt AN BETaRAEREERBEBNU LK
ARELESAEANGET ERABRR -

We also evaluated the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HARERER

Impairment Testing of Goodwill
7528 el 15 )

The carrying amount of goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements amounted to RMB69,723,000
as at 31 December 2021. The Group has performed
an annual impairment test on the recoverability of
goodwill in accordance HKAS 36. No impairment
charge against goodwill has been recorded in the
current year. Management’s impairment test is
important to our audit because the assessment
process is complex and requires significant
judgement and estimates on assumptions including
cash-generating unit identification, gross margin
and discount rate.

eV BHRROEEREEN2021F12A31B /A
R #69,723,0007T - EEERIEE B ST LR FE36
HEHEENAREBERGFETRENR - NFE
VTERLEETMHEREER - BEERENR
HEMNEZHEEEZ  REERFTGAREEM
EFRZHRRELERHELAT  BRESEL
B #ER - EMRBRE -

The Group’s disclosures about impairment testing
of goodwill are included in note 2.4 Summary of
significant accounting policies, note 3 Significant
accounting judgements and estimates and note 15
Gooawill, which specifically explain the accounting
policies and management’s assumptions and
accounting estimates.
EXEEFHAREBREANANBKBERNIMT24EX
2 AT K 1 E R W TE3E E B it A BT R 4 5 B 5
168 ERRFIBESARENEEENRR
SEHE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERONEERRERER

We reviewed and tested management’s future
forecasted cash flows and key assumptions by
comparing to the Group’s development plan,
budget and financial projections and analysis of
the industry. We involved our internal valuation
specialist to assist us in evaluating the key valuation
parameters such as the discount rate applied and
the valuation model with forecasted cash flows.
ﬁﬁ%&ﬁjﬁﬁlﬁt BENARKREARERER
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We also evaluated the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the Management
Discussion and Analysis of the Annual Report (but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, and the Report of Directors and the Corporate
Governance Report, which are expected to be made available to
us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed
on the other information that we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Report of Directors and the Corporate
Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to the Audit Committee.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
QOur report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hooi Wan Yee.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REeBRaRkHMEEKGEE

Year ended 31 December 2021 & 220219 12 A31H 1F F /&

Notes 2021 2020
Bt 5 202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
REVENUE Uy &= S 284,440 213,529
Cost of sales 3 & B AR (83,706) (57,293)
Gross profit E 200,734 156,236
Other income and gains N & 5 8,861 1,543
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (25,837) (20,037)
Administrative expenses ITHRH X (101,831) (32,640)
Other expenses H A5 (11,463) (45)
Finance costs B & B A 7 (535) (209)
Share of loss of an associate DIGHEE A E EE 17 (2) —
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR FiT 18 Bt AT 25 F 6 69,927 104,848
Income tax expense Frig i X 10 (24,682) (19,651)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R =F 45,245 85,197
Attributable to: LATATLT R :
Owners of the parent ISE/NETEZ =N 40,616 85,197
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR #E 2 4,629 —
45,245 85,197
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Htt2HEE 1R
Other comprehensive loss that will NEEBHETEEFH
not be reclassified to profit or loss in HEBEzEMEE
subsequent periods: B 18
Exchange differences on translation of #EARQ R K HREK A
the Company’s financial statements 2EBZEREZR
into presentation currency (53,933) (15)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSSFOR F®RHEMZHEHE 8
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (4 4115 %6 18) (53,933) (15)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ HRZmEW %= (EH#E)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 4 (8,688) 85,182
BIREREARAR

B FER
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
AeBEmaRkHEMEENER

Year ended 31 December 2021 & 22021412 A31H 1F F /&

Notes 2021 2020
B &£ 20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETRT

Attributable to: AN L, :
Owners of the parent UNEIETF-DN (13,317) 85,182
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR 2 4,629 -
(8,688) 85,182
EARNINGS PER SHARE BARAIEBREZEERTA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEERAER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic H R RMB6.59 cents RMB15.92 cents
12 AR#6.590 ARK#¥15902%
Diluted BE RMB6.39 cents RMB15.92 cents

12 ARM6.395 ARMK16.929
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mE BRI R

31 December 2021 2021412 431H

Notes 2021 2020
B 2 202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y WBENEE i@ 3,301 2,617
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 13,569 12,571
Goodwill EES 15 69,723 —
Other intangible assets HEf R EE 16 9,303 -
Investment in an associate REE NFMIKEE 17 343 =
Deferred tax assets BEMIEE E 26 6,333 3,509
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 102,572 18,697
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventory FE 94 —
Trade receivables B 5 W KIE 18 76,210 42,480
Contract assets AHEE 19 19,660 15,761
Prepayments, other receivables TERRIE - Kb R
and other assets HKIERHEMEE 20 8,281 3,026
Financial assets at fair value through AR EBEE R
profit or loss HEFHitABEH
THEE 21 29,640 —
Cash and cash equivalents HekIREEEY 22 3,879,104 147,095
Total current assets mEEERE 4,012,989 208,362
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables 2 5 RIE 23 6,219 6,265
Other payables and accruals H b & 1~ 5RIE K
EEtER 24 58,740 45,231
Contingent consideration payables FEfT S ARE 25 19,818 —
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 4,207 2,591
Tax payable JE 1< B 18 24,223 9,991
Total current liabilities mE)BE B 113,207 64,078
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEEE 3,899,782 144,284
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BAERREEME
LIABILITIES 4,002,354 162,981
BIREREARAR

R TR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PIARRR

31 December 2021 2021412 531H

Notes 2021 2020
B E 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTrT ARETIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 4,002,354 162,981
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBER
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 8,962 9,484
Contingent consideration payables FERT S ARE 25 18,491 —
Deferred tax liabilities RIAETIE B FE 26 2,708 2,083
Total non-current liabilities EmEBBREMARE 30,161 11,567
Net assets BEFE 3,972,193 151,414
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the YNCIEZ ZS DN
parent JFE (b e ==
Share capital fi& 72 27 44 33
Reserves 1 29 3,948,658 151,381
3,948,702 151,414
Non-controlling interests JEZE iR R = 30 23,491 =
Total equity W= R EE 3,972,193 151,414
Ms. Tian Liping Mr. Tian Lixin
HMYFiz+ H k4
Chief executive director Director
BEHITE EBE

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERBEEER

Year ended 31 December 2021 & 220219 12 A31H 1F F /&

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRREEARE
Share  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share option surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capita  premium*  reserve* reserve*  reserve* profits* Total interests equity
Notes ] BB EE EX FER
Wit k& BEER  ERf EHEE RBRE RN EH B&  Ezed
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR ARET:R
(note 27)  (note29)  (note28)  (note29) (note 29)
(WaF2r)  (Wskoo)  (Wskos)  (Mis29)  (KiE29)
At 1 January 2020 2020%1A1H 33 10,059 - 4,687 684 50,769 66,232 - 66,232
Proftfor the year EREH - - - - - 8197 85107 - &9
Other comprehensive loss  EREMH2E

for the year: BE:

Exchange differences EXZEE - - - - (15) - (15) - (15)
Total comprehensive income A2 &M %

for the year ae - - - - (15) 85,197 85,182 - 85,182
Transfer to surplus reserve B Z B HE - - - 32 - (322) - - -
At 31 December 2020 and  2020F12A318 &

1 January 2021 20211818 33 10,059 - 5,009 669 135,644 151,414 - 151,414
Profi for the year E R - - - - - W16 40616 4629 4545
Other comprehensive loss  EREM2E

for the year: BE
Exchange differences EXZEER - - - - (53,933) - (53,933) - (58,933)
Total comprehensive loss A2 EBE

for the year axm - - - - (53,933) 40,616 (13,317) 4,629 (8,688)
Transfer to surplus reserve  EEZBHEE - - - 8,631 - (8,631) - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WEK BAF 31 - - - - - - - 18,862 18,862
Issue of shares from nifial ~ ERAREE

public offering Bk 11 4,083,135 - - - - 4,003,146 - 4,033,146
Share issue expenses RAEARR - (144,798) - - - - (144,798) - (144,798)
Equity-settled share option b Fk &4 £ 4

arrangements BRERH 28 - - 14,257 - - - 14,57 - 14,257
Specialinterim dividend 2R 5B

declared and paid PERE 11 - - - - - (92,000) (92,000) - (92,000)
At 31 December 2021 20214124318 44 3,898,396 14,257 13,640 (53,264) 75,629 3,948,702 23491 3,972,193

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB3,948,658,000 (2020: RMB151,381,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

*

ZEREEBEREAUBEMRARINES
f# # A R #3,948,658,0007T (20204 : A
R #151,381,0007T) °

BIUER HARA T
—E=EFH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December 2021 & 220219 12 A31H 1F F /&

Notes 2021 2020
Bt 5 20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®Tr
CASH FLOWS FROM KRETHMBRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 75 AT 69,927 104,848
Adjustments for: RTYEZEELFAE:
Finance costs B & B A 7 535 209
Share of loss of an associate DB E AR EE 17 2 —
Interest income ) B WA (5,334) —
Investment income from financial BAREE HEHE
assets at fair value through profit BEABEEZNT
or loss paﬁz BEERERA 5 (132) (639)
Gains on lease modifications ER SRR g 5 - (453)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BERERE
equipment e 13 2,130 2,658
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEENE 14(a) 3,781 2,658
Covid-19-related rent concessions A ¥ e % 15 A8
from lessors HeEBE 14(b) - (352)
Amortisation of other intangible Hinfmp & E#E
assets 238 —
Impairment of trade receivables, net & 5 & W ZIE B E
B 58 18 511 (510)
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE BER
and equipment HEEE 86 —
Fair value adjustment of FZRARENAAEBE
contingent consideration o B 25 443 —
Equity-settled share option expense VA P& #E 45 55 1O BB IR A
EF3 28 14,257 —
86,444 108,419
Increase in inventories FE8Em (94) -
Increase in trade receivables B 5 & U 3k T N (28,433) (6,327)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets & #J ﬁ? (i' ),/ w (3,279) 7,521
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, il 1‘1‘ KIE - H AR
other receivables and other assets HIEREMEE
() / Vo (2,232) 199
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables fé%)‘&‘ﬁ RIBOR L),/
& (749) 3,631
Increase in other payables and Hi BN RIBREFE
accruals F 38 0 6,936 12,809
Cash generated from operations KEMERS 58,593 126,252
Income tax paid 2T 5 (14,160) (15,204)
Net cash flows from operating activities &&/AEMFR TR E
EFE 44,433 111,048

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv Eiﬁr%/ﬂbi‘?—%

Year ended 31 December 2021 & 22021412 531H 1F F /&

Notes 2021 2020
Bt 5 20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET
CASH FLOWS FROM REFHFMESRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received B4 F B 4,355 -
Purchases of items of property, plant B E¥WZE - B EN&E
and equipment EH 13 (1,968) (626)
Purchases of financial assets at fair BERAREENER
value through profit or loss HEHFAAERD
SREE (5,250) (132,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERRARBEEGER
assets at fair value through profit or HEHTAAEZD
loss DEEEMSFRIE 5,275 132,639
Acquisition of a subsidiary gL l-= NG 31 (52,953) —
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing % & &8 (FTA) /Fr 15
activities RenEFH (50,541) 13
CASH FLOWS FROM MEETHMEESRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from initial public offering BRAREEMERIE 4,033,146 —
Share issue expenses 1% 17 8 17 5 i (144,798) —
Dividend paid 2% B (92,000) —
Principal portion of lease payments HMENRAE IS (3,763) (2,625)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEBE® Eﬁ A2 (535) (209)
Proceeds from a loan due to a R RE RS ,*K
shareholder (6,452) —
Repayments of a loan due to a EEETRREER
shareholder 6,452 —
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing & EE 1S, (Fi )
activities BeRE 8 3,792,050 (2,834)
NET INCREASE INCASHAND CASH B&£RRELZEY
EQUIVALENTS 12 0 3,785,942 108,227
Cash and cash equivalents at FNReLKAEFEYD
beginning of year 147,095 38,883
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXFHNEE TR
changes, net (53,933) (15)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREEREES
END OF YEAR ZEY 22 3,879,104 147,095
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HeRBEESEEYER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ks
Cash and bank balances e KIRTT & & 1,452,887 147,095
Time deposits al-GRERN 2,426,217 —
Cash and cash equivalents as stated B ERAKXRKRELSRE
in the statement of financial position =yBEekBRE
and statement of cash flows EEY 3,879,104 147,095
%Hﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁj

—EC-FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements
B RS SRR M T

31 December 2021 2021412 531H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 8 April 2013. The registered
address of the Company is PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The Company
changed its name from “Kingyee Co., Limited” to “Medlive
Technology Co., Ltd.” on 24 February 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were principally
engaged in the provision of precision marketing and
corporate solutions, medical knowledge solutions, and
intelligent patient management solutions.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 15 July 2021.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

1.

LFIREEEH

AN R B/ — B R2013F4H8H &£
MERESIMAINBR AR -
782 &) B 7E i e 3E A PO Box 3009,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands ° AAQ &
2021562 H24 8 % % 78 B [Kingyee
Co., Limited] E i R B IR BRI XA
PRAR]

AKAal A —HEEERAF - AAK
FE -ARANBARNEBE XK
RiTHBELHENIEPEMRATR
ESNBERATRNEEEEEE
FRIR T E o

AT IR R2021E7 158 R & 4
BAERSZMABRAR (B E
R ETE e

MEATEH

ARREEWMBARFBEHIIWNT

Percentage of equity

registration and registered share attributable to the
Name place of operations capital Company Principal activities
EMRY ERtER ERTEE/ FAREERE
% FHREX L i R A i B Bok TEXR
Direct Indirect
E# &
Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited Hong Kong US$ 495,000 100% — Investment holding
3 May 2013
B 495,000 7T REER
2013%5H 3R
Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of RMB309,000,000 — 100%  Provision of precision
("Jinye Tiancheng’) () China (‘PRC")/ marketing and
Mainland China corporate solutions,
29 August 2013 medical knowledge
solutions, and
intelligent patient
management solutions
SERK(ER)HBEERLAR REARLNE AR REBESHERGER
(TEEXR) () (@), HEA, 309,000,0007C RAR BENER
201348 A29H RAIRREBHEEE
BRRAAR

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of

issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

Notes to Financial Statements

B S ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2021 2021412 431H

LFRKERE (E

MEBLATREHE(E)

AR EBMBRBFBEEHIIWAT

(#8)

registration and registered share attributable to the
Name place of operations capital Company Principal activities
BEMRY BERHER ERTEE/ FAREERE
% BHREX LN i R A (B BAk TEXH
Direct Indirect
E# A &

Beijing Yimaihutong PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Provision of precision
Technology Co., Ltd. 18 April 2013 marketing and
(“Yimaihutong”) (i) (iii) corporate solutions,

medical knowledge
solutions, and
intelligent patient
management solutions

TRBREANKERLA  HE/PEA AR RERESHRIGER
(FE& AR B8 ) (i) 201347188 10,000,0007T RAR BENZR

RAIRRERELEE
BRARR

Shijiazhuang Maili Technology  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 = 100% Research and
Co., Ltd. (“Shijiazhuang 30 October 2019 development
Maili”) (ii)

AREBRNEERAR Bl A AR it %

(AREER]) (i) 2019%F10A30R 2,000,0007C

Yinchuan Yimaitong PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of internet
Internet Hospital Co., Ltd. 29 August 2019 hospital services
(“Yinchuan Yimaitong’)

(i) (i)

RINBRATHEERER FE/ FEAM AR REGHBERR RS

) (188 188 AR 33 1) (ii) i) 20198 529H 10,000,0007C

BIENEARA R
R TR
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Notes to Financial Statements
B RS SRR M T

31 December 2021 2021412 531H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. LFREKERHEZ
(Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) MEATEH(E)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARREEWMBRTIFEHINAT
follows: (Continued) (%)
Place and date Nominal value of
of incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered share attributable to the
Name place of operations capital Company Principal activities
EMRY BERtER ERTEE/ FAREERE
% BHREX L i R A (B Bk TEXH
Direct Indirect
E# &
Medcon (ii) (iii) PRC/Mainland China RMB 1,000,000 — 60%  Provision of precision
17 August 2006 marketing and

corporate solutions,
medical knowledge
solutions, and
intelligent patient
management solutions

3 3 (i i) BB AR RUEEELHEREER
20068 A17H 1,000,0007C RAR - BEMER
RARREREEE

BRRAFR
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Notes:

(i) This entity is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established
under the PRC law.

(ii) These entities are limited liability enterprises established under
the PRC law.

(i)  These entities are controlled by the Company through a
series of contractual arrangements entered into between
Jinye Tiancheng and these entities (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). They are collectively referred to as the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”.

During the year, the Group acquired Medcon from a third
party. Further details of this acquisition are included in note
31 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and contingent consideration
payables which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Notes to Financial Statements

B S ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2021 2021412 431H

AFIREERE (&

MEAREH2)

B 5

(i) ZERBTDRBERBEIEEKILAING
BERE-

iy ZERNDBEFRBEAERIMNAR
AT e

(iy ZEEBAAARBBASERKEZ
BEREN— ?WAmﬁmGAﬂi
J 7"

VRS SR ARIEAHBER] -

FR - AEBRE=FWEZHE -
ZWENE—TFBEARYBERE
B 5E31 ©

ER2INEZRRIBERFELRFE
EEIBRAEERLDFEEN
ARAMBERA -EERR - BH
HiMBRRMNFEEERNFHAE
£

21 ERIEHE

BB HmRIBREEEGHMAG(EH
BEITE AR B M EE MR
SEA(ERMBRELZENDERA
MEZEMBHEEN  FE S
ERA(EBEAEADLRE) &
BRREREARE B QR FDG
MRBERTERHE - FHERRERIE
BELRAEMERE  HERQ(E
EFff ERHEEHTHABRTNERE
ERBRAABEFAENBMNIAR
BB - ZEMBRRAARKE A

RBDEJ KB EHAN A
BEONEEZREONTT -

%Mﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁT
—EC-FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements
B RS SRR M T

31 December 2021 2021412 531H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial information of the subsidiaries is prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2021 Annual Report
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2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
BEAMGRELEIR BAEGFTHERFEI95%
ERMBHREENETR  EEVBREER
FATRBEEGEHREERFE165 (BT A)
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1

2.2

B S ¥R 2R MY

31 December 2021 2021412 431H

WREE(E)
REBEE)

Bam M EMEE RSN SAKED
BENRARANTRARERARIE
PR B R AE E - BD R Uk 5 BUIE
BESEHRSAT - FHEASEK
BRAIZARZNMEEBARA
MEE - BE #zmD WA X
FBREEREVEFRAARKEZRY

B EE RBRBER LS E
B=EERP—Exk A LHBRH
EEY AEEEENTEEAY
WIKE T HAEGIE - B RA A
P HE#E 5 B B (5 B ok R I #E)
BREaRXZHTAANE -

i) 75 £8 [ 5k 25 — ) Ff /88 22 &) 9 4% 7
& - B K 5% B BB R F7 () MY B A R
MEEREREBERE)MAE: ()EMAE
72 B b a5 A BR MR M (i) BE S SR 1R
MWRETIE R Z8E  WHER()E W
REN2DABE: (NERNRBRE
BWAREE: Ri)ERMRERESE
MEBRIER - TATREMBE2EK
BAERNAREEEERD D
BREMASBEERLENBEEEXR
BEREKNARELEEH D BEE
HmERBEMNEE)

ENBRREEEREE

AEBERRNEFEENTBERRABE KX
RATNINKET BT RELER -

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

FIEZEHE — B G

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30

June 2021 (early adopted)

BB W% | E R E165% (B 7] A
)

2021F6H30H 7% Covid-194F B # < 18 F (IR & &%

BIENEARA R
R TR
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Notes to Financial Statements
B RS SRR M T

31 December 2021 2021412 531H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

@)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be
updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for
changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis immediately preceding the
change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform
to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could
arise on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide
a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within
the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments
require an entity to disclose additional information to
enable users of financial statements to understand the
effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s
financial instruments and risk management strategy.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2021. However, the Group has not received
covid-19-related rent concessions and plans to apply
the practical expedient when it becomes applicable
within the allowed period of application.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EMMERKRENHEEMBER

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BEREVBREENEIR (BT AX)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

BB R EERFE105 BB T ERIF285R
(1B ET &) (20114F)

HKFRS 17

BEREVBREERNFEITHR

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BERMBHREERE175HR(EETA)

Amendment to HKFRS 17

BB EERFE175E (EF] )
Amendments to HKAS 1

EBGTERFE15 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

EREGHENFIRLBEMBRELRNEHL RS

F25% (I8 7] 2)
Amendments to HKAS 8
BB G ERESH (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB S ERFE125 (BETAN)
Amendments to HKAS 16

EBGTERFE165 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 37
BB EREI7THRUBETA)

/BB R

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

& BB 75 3 & E BI20184F 2 20204 18 B 2 F &
24 i
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Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

B2 HE 2R B FE AL

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture?®

KREZHABELNAASELRECHNEELNE
-

Insurance Contracts?

N =

Insurance Contracts? ®

R & 42 °

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information?
BEAXEREBHHHETEREITHREEEH
FEREIN — B EH?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current? 4

BESERTE I TE? ¢

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
BB RE

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

B G E2 TE &2

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

BE—XGESEEREGEF LR E?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use’

VE BERRKE BEHFEHZHELE

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’

EEMLEH) — BITEAIZ A

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS
411

ERMBRELEBNEIR BTEMBREERFE9
55 BAY R E LR F165% 18 BB & 0 &
ER G ERFE4H(EFTAR)

/BB R



2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

3 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the
guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group’s
accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items,
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ST